          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4  -------------------------------x

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          5

                       of the

          6

             COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          7  (Held Jointly With)

             SUBCOMMITTEE ON REVENUE FORECASTING

          8  -------------------------------x

                            May 1, 2003

          9                 Start:  1:12 p.m.

                            Recess: 3:20 p.m.

         10

                            City Hall

         11                 Committee Room

                            New York, New York

         12

         13       B E F O R E:

         14              BILL PERKINS

                              Chairperson, Governmental

         15                   Operations Committee

         16              MICHAEL NELSON

                              Chairperson, Revenue Forecasting

         17                   Subcommittee

         18

                         COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Madeline Provenzano

         19                                 Michael Nelson

                                            Christine Quinn

         20                                 Joseph Addabbo

                                            Leroy Comrie

         21                                 Peter Vallone

                                            Charles Barron

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         17 Battery Place -  Suite 1308

         25              New York, New York 10004

                              (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             David Rubenstein

          4  Deputy Director

             New York City Office of Management & Budget

          5

             MarySol Rodriguez

          6  Director

             Partnership for New York City

          7

             Larian Angelo

          8  Director of Finance Division

             City Council

          9

             Ronnie Lowenstein

         10  Director

             Independent Budget Office.

         11

             Joel Berger, Esq.

         12

             Fred Siegel

         13  Professor at the Cooper Union

             Senior Fellow at the Progressive Policy

         14  Institute, Washington

         15  Jonathan Bowles

             Research Director

         16  Center for an Urban Future

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            3

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND REVENUE FORECASTING

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I'm Bill

          3  Perkins, Chair of the City Council's Committee on

          4  Governmental Operations.  Today the committee will

          5  examine the issue of secession by New York City from

          6  New York State but, more importantly, the factors

          7  that have given rise to such discussions.

          8                 Before I begin, I want to acknowledge

          9  that as we meet there is a marathon of a campaign in

         10  process being led by one of our members, Council

         11  Member Bob Jackson.  It's a 150 mile march to Albany

         12  in support of the Campaign For Fiscal Equities

         13  appeal.  The reason I raise this is not only because

         14  I have just come from marching with them for a few

         15  miles -- the title of the march is "Walk a Mile for

         16  a Child -- but because to some extent the reason for

         17  the Campaign For Fiscal Equities exemplifies some of

         18  the reasons that we may hear today as to what has

         19  given rise to this bill for secession.  Inequities

         20  essentially that New Yorkers feel vis- a- vis their

         21  relationship with the state government.

         22                 I wanted to take a moment to

         23  acknowledge this yeoman effort being conducted by

         24  the campaign for fiscal equity, Bob Jackson, one of

         25  our colleagues, and to publicly wish them well as
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          2  they represent what might be considered the finest

          3  interests of the people especially the children of

          4  the City of New York.

          5                 We will hear testimony on Intro. 386,

          6  a bill sponsored by Council Member Peter Vallone,

          7  which poses the referendum question for the citizens

          8  of New York City as to whether they would like a

          9  commission to study the question of New York City

         10  succeeding from New York State.

         11                 Before discussing the bill I'd like

         12  to discuss some very serious issues that play into

         13  and give impetus to a discussion of secession.  As

         14  most New Yorkers know, the city is involved in an

         15  extremely dire fiscal crisis, the worst since the

         16   '70s.  This crisis has been particularly and

         17  uniquely exacerbated by the events of September

         18  11th.  In this time of need the Council and the

         19  Mayor have been looking to the federal and state

         20  governments but to not as much success as we would

         21  like at this point in time.  Not only has Albany not

         22  been as forthcoming as we would like with

         23  assistance, but they have repeatedly tied our hands

         24  from implementing various revenue raising strategies

         25  of our own.
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          2                 We were just having a meeting not too

          3  long ago, members of the Council leadership and

          4  business community leaders, discussing the budget

          5  problems vis- a- vis the state, noting that several

          6  attempts of ours to gain assistance from Albany have

          7  been rejected.  One of the members of the business

          8  community suggested that we need to just break away

          9  from the rest of the state.  We are not getting our

         10  fair share, end of quote.  This wasn't a member of

         11  some radical fringe group, some far right militia

         12  member whose mantra has been secession, this was a

         13  respected member of the business community who,

         14  after analyzing and deliberating on the inequities

         15  that exist in our relationship with Albany,

         16  desperately saw this as a valid consideration.

         17                 Now it so happens that we at this

         18  Council, and particularly in this committee, are

         19  firmly in tune with the progressive pulse of the

         20  people and, as such, actually had just such a bill

         21  in the committee sponsored by my colleague, Council

         22  Member Peter Vallone.  So we decided to move ahead

         23  with this legislation at this time to show that

         24  there are members of our community so frustrated

         25  with the situation and lack of self- determination
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          2  that currently exists that they are willing to

          3  consider something as radical as the city succeeding

          4  from the state.

          5                 As my colleague has so poignantly

          6  pointed out the state is keeping about 3.5 billion

          7  of the city's money. This is our trade deficit.  We

          8  send up money in tax revenues and we receive money

          9  in the form of services and subsidies and we end up

         10  getting shortchanged about 3.5 billion.  Now, the

         11  Mayor has pointed out that the city faces about a

         12  3.8 billion budget deficit.  This may be just a

         13  coincidence, but it seems more likely that our hard

         14  earned money, rather than going to the needy New

         15  Yorkers and their children, is being siphoned off by

         16  Albany.

         17                 Here are some other noteworthy

         18  statistics. The city has accounted for 96.8% of

         19  state -- of total statewide employment decline

         20  between December 2001 and December 2002.  The city

         21  lost 91,700 jobs in the year following September

         22  11th while the number of jobs increased or held

         23  steady in the six surrounding communities.  The city

         24  receives 32% less municipal aid from Albany than it

         25  did a decade ago.  The city receives zero dollars in
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          2  supplemental municipal aid.  The program has paid

          3  out over 720 million since its inception in 1996.

          4  The state has enacted at least half a dozen laws

          5  since 1994 requiring the city to boost salaries or

          6  pension payments to certain municipal workers. The

          7  measures have cost the city hundreds of millions of

          8  dollars.  The city contributes about 47% of total

          9  revenues to the state while receiving only 40% of

         10  total state spending.  The city is not receiving its

         11  fair share of state services.  This is the bottom

         12  line and it is a bottom line that leaves us in the

         13  red.  This hearing is extremely timely and we look

         14  forward to a productive and fruitful conversation.

         15  We look forward to hearing testimony from various

         16  government officials, advocates and members of our

         17  community who will testify.

         18                 Let me now introduce my committee

         19  members.  I will also ask Council Member Vallone,

         20  Council Member Nelson and Council Member Weprin if

         21  they would like to make a statement.  First I want

         22  to acknowledge Council Member Peter Vallone.

         23  Sitting next to him is Councilwoman Madeline

         24  Provenzano.  Next to her is Council Member Joseph

         25  Addabbo, Jr.  To my far left is the Chairman of our
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          2  Finance Committee, Council Member Weprin and next to

          3  him is Council Member Nelson.  Now we'll have a word

          4  from Council Member Peter Vallone, the sponsor of

          5  the introduction.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  And now a

          7  word from our sponsors, huh?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Now a word from

          9  our sponsor.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

         11  Mr. Chair.  I don't normally hear myself associated

         12  with ideas described as radical, so this could be a

         13  first.  Let me commend you on your leadership here

         14  because this is an idea that has been described as

         15  radical and it takes real leadership and real guts

         16  to move forward on this.  This is your committee and

         17  you're doing that, so I commend you on your

         18  leadership here, and Matthew Tollin also for your

         19  help. As we said, we may be one of the founding

         20  father sitting here of the new state.

         21                 As Chairman Perkins said, there's one

         22  main reason we're in this financial situation and

         23  that's 9/11. But New York City could have survived

         24  9/11 if not for the actions of New York State.  Not

         25  only do we not receive one cent in aid from New York
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          2  State, we are actually hurt.

          3                 Every day Albany gives us a new

          4  reason to explore these options such as secession.

          5  As Bill mentioned, one of the first reasons was

          6  Pataki's refusal to settle Robert Jackson's

          7  education lawsuit.  Upstate kids get 10,000 per kid,

          8  we get 9,000.  In addition, last year they gave a 45

          9  million bailout to the Albany -- to the Buffalo

         10  School System, while we get nothing.  Another

         11  reason, the pathetic political games involved in the

         12  commuter fee.  Another reason is the money we send

         13  to Albany that we never see, 3.5 billion.

         14                 One of the most egregious examples

         15  the Council voted on yesterday.  We voted on a

         16  resolution regarding the E- 199 phase. Since

         17  September 11th -- I'm sorry, since 1991 we have been

         18  sending to Albany a fee on our cell phones.  They've

         19  received about 160 million since 1991.  They've used

         20  not one cent of that to enhance New York City 911 as

         21  they were required to by law,  Instead, they funded

         22  the state trooper system.  We don't use state

         23  troopers unless we get pulled over upstate.  We

         24  don't see state troopers down here.  That's just one

         25  of the most glaring examples of how they take New
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          2  York City money and they don't give it back to us.

          3                 Another reason.  Recently Governor

          4  Pataki's end run around Mayor Bloomberg to try to

          5  actually steal our 80% funding on the Homeland

          6  Security money.  That was an outrage.

          7                 Another recent example, Pataki's

          8  budget proposal had $6 million in aid from New York

          9  State to New York City.  Do you know what that aid

         10  was?  That was aid that the Mayor and the Council

         11  worked very, very hard to get from FEMA, federal

         12  aid.  He took the envelope while it was on the way

         13  from the federal government to us, put it in his

         14  state budget and said here's our aid.  Do we all

         15  have "morons" written on our forehead here?  This is

         16  how they treat us in Albany.  Again, not one cent in

         17  aid.  We just need our own money back.

         18                 Let me give you an example of what

         19  real action is.  In California in 1989 there was an

         20  earthquake in San Francisco.  The state immediately

         21  raised the sales tax I believe it was a quarter

         22  percent, gave a billion dollars in aid to San

         23  Francisco.  That's real aid, real action. Here we

         24  get hurt.  If we had our own money, and the Council

         25  finance staff has looked into this and I need to
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          2  thank Frank Tramontano, who'll be testifying today,

          3  for all his assistance, we would have a $3.5 billion

          4  surplus.  We could roll back the property tax

          5  increase, we could lower the personal income tax 20%

          6  and still have over a billion dollars left over to

          7  fund our police and fund our schools.

          8                 New York City residents, we have big

          9  shoulders, and when we could take care of the state

         10  we did. Now our cuts are too deep, our taxes are too

         11  high.  We can't do it anymore.

         12                 By the way, as I said, on a daily

         13  basis something happens.  Yesterday or the day

         14  before there was a new proposal from Albany.  That's

         15  a sham, too.  That gives us the ability to tax our

         16  own citizens here in New York City.  New York City

         17  residents already pay taxes which are too high.  We

         18  don't need new taxes, we need the tax money we

         19  already pay from Albany.  That's what their new

         20  budget proposal was, more taxes for New York City.

         21                 I'm going to cut this short.  I had

         22  some more, but if Albany doesn't do this, we need to

         23  explore every option.  One of them is secession.

         24  New York City is the goose that laid the golden egg

         25  and this goose may have to flee before Albany cooks
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          2  us.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Chair, for this

          4  hearing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          6  much. Council Member Weprin?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Yes.  Thank

          8  you, Chairman Perkins. My name is David Weprin and I

          9  Chair the Council's Finance Committee and I'm glad

         10  to have the opportunity to be here at this hearing

         11  which comes as we're struggling to close the budget

         12  gap of close to $4 billion.

         13                 As Finance Chair I can state one

         14  thing unequivocally.  The reason the city is faced

         15  with a fiscal crisis is not because we spend more

         16  than we generate in revenues.  It is because for

         17  decades Albany and even Washington, D.C. Have been

         18  starving the goose that lays the golden eggs.  Every

         19  time they see that the goose can survive and even

         20  thrive, notwithstanding their mistreatment, they

         21  take even more and return even less to us for our

         22  sustenance.

         23                 Our city generates almost 60% of the

         24  state's gross state product.  We send billions of

         25  dollars more each year to Albany than we get back in
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          2  aid or program assistance.  And what do we get in

          3  return?  Albany spends over $2,000 per year less on

          4  each of our school children, as Chairman Perkins

          5  highlighted in his opening statement, than it does

          6  for the children in all of the other large cities in

          7  the state.  We're the only major city in the nation

          8  that must pay for such a large portion of its

          9  Medicaid costs.  In countless small, rarely-

         10  mentioned ways, Albany picks at our bounty with one

         11  hand and gives us nothing with the other.

         12                 Let me mention a few examples in my

         13  brief tenure as Finance Chair.  The state recently

         14  raised its cell phone surcharge.  As Chairman

         15  Vallone highlighted, half the cell phones in the

         16  state are in the city but the revenue only funds

         17  state police, none of which are located or provide

         18  any services here.  We recently raised cigarette

         19  taxes to help generate revenue.  The state has taken

         20  almost half of these revenues.  In the wake of

         21  September 11th and the federal government urging

         22  firms to move operations out of the city, we might

         23  expect Albany to be extrasensitive to our economic

         24  development needs.  Instead, they created new empire

         25  zones throughout all of the state with the exception
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          2  of, you guessed it, New York City.  Just prior to

          3  September 11th they had funded biotech centers, none

          4  of which, you guess it, is in New York City.

          5                 I think that this hearing at this

          6  time is necessary and appropriate and I'm glad to be

          7  part of it. While it's important to chip away at

          8  each unfair element of our balance of payment

          9  situation with the State, it is equally important to

         10  look at the big picture and question the general

         11  policies and structures that have led to this unfair

         12  situation.

         13                 Thank you.

         14                 MR. NELSON:  My name is Mike Nelson

         15  and I Chair the Council's Subcommittee on Revenue

         16  and Forecasting. It's ironic that we usually think

         17  of revenue issues in terms of how we raise the

         18  revenues we need to support this city's essential

         19  services.  I reality, as we've all alluded to

         20  already, the question becomes how do we keep enough

         21  of the revenues to generate in this city that we can

         22  maintain essential services here before they are

         23  sent off by Albany to support other parts of the

         24  state.

         25                 During good times Albany takes and
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          2  takes from the city.  There's no better example of

          3  this than the 1999 repeal or robbery of the commuter

          4  tax.  It was a modest tax that probably didn't even

          5  fully reimburse the city for the costs it incurred

          6  in providing essential services to the 800,000

          7  commuters that really take us -- a lot of the life's

          8  blood, out of our city.  They earn good livings here

          9  each day.  That would be palatable to a degree if

         10  during bad times they gave back to us.  However, as

         11  Chairman Weprin stated, last year as we were

         12  struggling with tax increases and huge budget cuts

         13  Albany was telling us everything was fine.  As they

         14  helped themselves to our cigarette tax, our cell

         15  phone revenues as well as to a disproportionate

         16  share of our general tax revenues.

         17                 We pay about 17 1/2 billion in taxes

         18  to the state and only receive about 14 billion in

         19  aid and programs. When we ask for what are

         20  essentially crumbs, like the restoration of the

         21  commuter tax, we're made to feel like we've done

         22  something wrong, like we've been a bad kid.

         23                 I'm looking forward to hearing from

         24  our witnesses today on the balance of payments issue

         25  as well as Council Member Vallone's legislation to
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          2  create a commission to study the issues surrounding

          3  cessation from New York State.  I want to than

          4  Chairman Perkins for bringing this to the fore as

          5  well.

          6                 While clearly the best option would

          7  be for Albany to work with us to fix this

          8  relationship which has become so unfair and one-

          9  sided, if that fails we should seriously look at our

         10  options for and the consequences of ending that

         11  relationship.  It's almost like the spouse of a

         12  medical student who puts their spouse through

         13  medical school to be dumped after and then continues

         14  to pay support after the practice is even in

         15  existence.  It really hurts.  And you heard the

         16  frustration in Council Member Vallone's voice and

         17  Council Member Perkins' voice and Weprin's as well.

         18                 And upstate I'm sure is not very fond

         19  of us with all of it, they're just fond of taking

         20  our money. Thank you, Chairman.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         22  much, Chairman.  Now we're going to hear from our

         23  first witness from the administration, from the

         24  Office of Management & Budget, Mr. David Rubenstein.

         25  To be followed by --
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          2                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Good afternoon.

          3                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

          4  afternoon.  Would you please raise your right hand.

          5  Do you solemnly swear or affirm that the testimony

          6  you're about to give is the whole truth, the whole

          7  truth and nothing but the truth?

          8                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I do.

          9                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Could you

         10  please for the record state your name and the office

         11  you're with?

         12                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My name is David

         13  Rubenstein. I'm Deputy Director of the New York City

         14  Office of Management & Budget.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Would you be

         16  good enough for the record spell your name?

         17                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  R- U- B- E- N- S- T-

         18  E- I- N.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         20  much for your presence.  You may proceed.

         21                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'd like to just

         22  briefly talk about a very important issue for all of

         23  us, which is the Albany/New York City relationship,

         24  what the Mayor's office's immediate goals are for

         25  this coming budget.  As you know, there's been a lot
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          2  of talk in the paper about what's going on.  The

          3  Govern's executive budget, of course, as we know,

          4  had extensive cuts to education, health care, even

          5  causing miscellaneous reductions elsewhere in the

          6  budget. It did not deal with our needs for increased

          7  tax revenue authority or solving the inefficiencies

          8  in regional transportation programs.  That shortfall

          9  of action totaled over $2.7 billion.

         10                 Today with the historic action by the

         11  Legislature, we've seen that there is movement on

         12  many of these fronts which is important for us

         13  because, as you know,

         14  we aren't in control of our destiny and we do rely

         15  on our partners in Albany who can be and are showing

         16  themselves to be very helpful at this point.

         17  There's restorations to education, Medicaid cuts all

         18  over the budget.  So those are where the Mayor is

         19  focusing his attentions in the immediate future.

         20                 If you have any questions I'd be

         21  happy to answer them.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you again

         23  for your participation and that brief overview of

         24  where the Mayor's focusing his attention and the

         25  acknowledgment of how the process is unfolding to
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          2  some extent to the benefit of the city, particularly

          3  with regard to what is being proposed as some

          4  restorations in health care as well as education.

          5                 I know one of the pet concerns that

          6  the Mayor has been advocating has been the return of

          7  the commuter tax.

          8  Have you any insight into where that may be heading

          9  at this point in time?  I know that was sort of the

         10  cornerstone of his Albany plan.

         11                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, the Mayor

         12  thinks it's very important to reform the personal

         13  income tax to treat all who work and live in New

         14  York City equitably, the same way.  That's an

         15  important goal.  Whether that goal will be achieved

         16  in the immediate budget negotiations I think remains

         17  to be seen.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Any other

         19  questions? Mr. Vallone, Peter Vallone?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  We also

         21  thank you for coming.  We're very well aware that

         22  you're not in a position to sit here and blast New

         23  York State while sensitive negotiations are going

         24  on, so I won't ask you those questions.

         25                 You did say, though, that Albany's
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          2  being helpful by making certain restorations.  Where

          3  would you say that the funding for those

          4  restorations is coming from?

          5                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we've read

          6  that they're looking to raise their own personal

          7  income tax, their own sales tax, close corporate

          8  loopholes.  Some of their actions to close corporate

          9  loopholes, for example, could flow through to the

         10  city which would be helpful.  But there's no reason

         11  to believe at this point that they would flow

         12  through at a different ratio than they're flowing

         13  through now, which would mean that we're raising

         14  taxes on city residents, sending money to Albany and

         15  still getting less than we send up.  Correct?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I think as

         17  people have testified it is indeed true that this is

         18  a power -- the New York City economy is a very

         19  powerful engine of economic progress for the state

         20  and the nation.  We've often been on record that,

         21  for example, in school aid, for example, we don't

         22  get our fair share and we hope with every budget

         23  negotiation to improve that equation.  But I haven't

         24  seen any of the funding proposals which would

         25  provide more money to New York State -- to New York
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          2  City than any other area of the state.  I could be

          3  wrong, but have you?

          4                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I don't think

          5  we have the complete picture yet on this budget

          6  result.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Okay, I'm

          8  going to leave you alone on that topic.  Let me just

          9  ask you figurewise, we have our figure -- and let me

         10  also thank Larian who's sitting here for her help

         11  and her entire staff on this, that show that we sent

         12  3.5 billion more to Albany.  What do your figures

         13  show?

         14                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm trying to think

         15  back.  I think the last time the Office of

         16  Management & Budget looked at the situation we found

         17  that the city's economy, which is basically made up

         18  of the people who live here, the people who work

         19  here who may come from the suburbs, for instance,

         20  generate about 46% of the state's tax take.  Those

         21  are the figures I recollect.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  And what

         23  percentage of the state budget do we then receive

         24  back?

         25                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I don't have those
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          2  figures in my mind.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Would you get

          4  us those figures when you get a chance?

          5                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We can look, yes.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Because that

          7  would help us understand the imbalance that we're

          8  trying to better understand through this process.

          9                 Go ahead.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Again, I do

         11  appreciate your being here, but that was kind of a

         12  given that that question would come up, so I do

         13  expect to have that.  As soon as possible we would

         14  like that.  Thank you.

         15                 Federal aid to the state.  Again, our

         16  figures show that it's about 26 million of which

         17  only about five to six funnels through to the city.

         18  Do you have any stats that would -- regarding that

         19  statistic?

         20                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I take it those are

         21  the statistics from the, what was formerly known as

         22  the Moynihan Report on the balance of payment?

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  No, that's

         24  different.  That -- we understand the balance of

         25  payment, which is money we send to Washington, more
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          2  than we get back, much like the 3.5 billion we're

          3  stating here.  This is federal aid to the city.

          4                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  If you're balancing

          5   --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I'm sorry,

          7  to the state.

          8                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, if you're

          9  balancing federal aid to the city against what the

         10  city pays Washington, I think clearly there's an

         11  imbalance.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me ask you

         13  a question, do you acknowledge that there is an

         14  inequity sort of in the vein that Councilman Vallone

         15  has been trying to raise between the city and the

         16  state.  Do you acknowledge that there is some

         17  inequity in that regard?  Forget the numbers,

         18  because your office and our office may not agree. We

         19  may not all agree, but I think our --

         20                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  -- Central

         22  concern is whether or not we're getting our fair

         23  share.

         24                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, I think, as I

         25  mentioned education aid, it's part of -- in fact,
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          2  part of the Mayor's legislative agenda, has

          3  proposals to redress many of the inequities such as

          4  where the state has shifted burdens to the city,

          5  which are really state burdens.  We're looking to

          6  redress those.  So I would say, yes, in many areas

          7  we're treated inequitably.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Are you

          9  prepared to discuss a few of those burdens that are

         10   -- mandates that are shifted to the city that

         11  you're familiar with and sort of as much as possible

         12  elaborate them if --

         13                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Let me just look.

         14  Well, for instance --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Flesh it all

         16  out so we can get a good picture of what it is --

         17                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Some of the major --

         18  the major issue, of course, is Medicaid, which New

         19  York State has a, as you are all aware, has a method

         20  of paying for it which is quite unusual in the

         21  nation.  Generally, the federal Medicaid system has

         22  the federal government putting in a share and the

         23  state picking up another share.  Not only does New

         24  York State get a low federal match, which ups the

         25  local share, the State of New York imposes a burden
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          2  on the counties, including New York City as a

          3  county, to contribute to that local share.  Of

          4  course, because of the size of our Medicaid

          5  population that tends to shift costs to New York

          6  City.  So that's, of course, a major area which

          7  really needs long- term attention.  So that

          8  education -- those are really the two big areas, I

          9  think.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Is there one or

         11  two others that you want to -- just that may not be

         12  so dramatic but might nevertheless be worthy of

         13  pointing out?  'Cause of this process, needless to

         14  say, is an information gathering just to understand

         15  exactly what is at issue here as far as these

         16  inequities.

         17                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, I'm not an

         18  expert in the criminal justice area, but as part of

         19  the Mayor's agenda, he had proposed a couple

         20  initiatives.  One was equity in correctional

         21  reimbursement.  It's basically we, the City of New

         22  York is housing state prisoners but not receiving

         23  full reimbursement for those costs.  We have a

         24  proposal to phase in equity in that reimbursement,

         25  for instance.  That's another area of inequity.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          3  much. Are there any other questions from the --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Can I just

          5  follow up with about pension mandates from the

          6  state.

          7                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, we've put

          8  forward in many of the budget messages, the Mayor's

          9  put together that the state has acted many times

         10  without the support of the city to enhance pension

         11  benefits for the municipal workforce which, of

         12  course, once imposed becomes constitutionally

         13  protected and can't be changed.  That's been a major

         14  item which -- I'm just looking at my numbers on that

         15   -- are costing in just one item, which was making a

         16  permanent pension COLA will cost us almost $500

         17  million next year.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I want to

         19  acknowledge our majority whip, LeRoy Comrie has

         20  joined us and the Chairperson of our Health

         21  Committee, Christine Quinn, has joined us, both of

         22  whom have returned from the marathon with Council

         23  Member Bob Jackson, who in his own way is also

         24  raising, through his 150 mile march, the inequities,

         25  particularly as you point out, in terms of

                                                            27

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND REVENUE FORECASTING

          2  education.  So we want to thank them for coming back

          3  to us in time for this hearing.

          4                 I believe Councilwoman Quinn has a

          5  question or comment.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  In the vein of

          7  health and Medicaid of which I'm the Chair, as you

          8  said, what -- you in highlighting some of the

          9  inequities mentioned Medicaid and mentioned both New

         10  York State's almost singular decision as a state to

         11  pass cost burdens on to the counties and also the

         12  point that we as a state get a significantly lower

         13  portion of reimbursed -- proportion of funding from

         14  the federal government.  We get 50%.  The national

         15  average for the federal Medicaid reimbursement --

         16  not reimbursement, the federal Medicaid assistance

         17  funding from the federal government, we get 50%.

         18  The average is 61%, though some states like Arkansas

         19  and Mississippi get into the 80s from the federal

         20  government.  A lot of that has to do -- some of it

         21  with politics and some of it has to do with the

         22  formula which the federal government uses to

         23  calculate what they call FMAP, which I can't

         24  remember exactly what all the letters stand for.

         25  But federal Medicaid something, something.  What
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          2  exactly is the Mayor and the administration doing --

          3  I know the Health and Hospitals Corporation working

          4  with the National Association of Public Hospitals

          5  has been quite aggressive on the federal front to

          6  try to get the FMAP formula changed so New York

          7  State would do better, and the Council has change in

          8  the FMAP formula as part of our federal agenda which

          9  we will be lobbying on on May 21st when we go to

         10  Washington, what has the Mayor and his Office of

         11  Legislative Affairs in Washington done specifically

         12  around that FMAP issue?

         13                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, we have a

         14  similar proposal in the executive budget to increase

         15  the federal share of Medicaid funding.  In fact,

         16  just a very minor change in the share could mean a

         17  tremendous amount of relief for us.  I think a 3%

         18  share increase could provide almost $250 million of

         19  relief next year.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  That's great.

         21  I think we're all in philosophical agreement, but

         22  what has happened? I mean, has the Mayor's office in

         23  D.C. Sent a letter to every congressional member?

         24  Has the Mayor met with the congressional delegation

         25  of New York City about the FMAP issue?  Has he gone
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          2  down and lobbied specifically on FMAP? And in

          3  addition, let me just add there's discussion right

          4  now around Medicare and the prescriptions costs on

          5  the federal government.  That plan could help New

          6  York significantly as it relates to Medicaid because

          7  the seniors who don't end up getting covered get a

          8  lot of their prescription costs through Medicaid.

          9  That's the biggest cost in some ways to Medicaid is

         10  prescriptions, but if it's not exactly -- if what

         11  the Republicans proposed goes through intact, it

         12  won't be that helpful for us.  And in that

         13  particular way this Mayor, given his party

         14  enrollment, could be helpful.  I appreciate that

         15  it's in the executive budget but what I'm looking

         16  for is some examples of what the steps you've taken

         17  on FMAP and the Medicare prescriptions are, what

         18  lobbying trips, et cetera.

         19                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I'm not in the loop

         20  on that. I'd have to get back to you on what steps

         21  have been taken since the release of our executive

         22  budget a couple weeks ago.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN:  And in

         24  addition -- that would be great -- what ones are

         25  planned -- ooh, I'm breaking the law -- what ones --
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          2  I'm ringing that is -- what ones are planned in the

          3  future because obviously D.C. Goes on longer than

          4  session.  That would be great.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          6  much. Appreciate your attendance and we'll be in

          7  touch.

          8                 MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay, thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  We want to hear

         10  from MarySol Rodriguez, the Director of New York

         11  City Affairs for the Partnership for New York City.

         12                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Good afternoon, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Good afternoon.

         15                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Members of the

         16  Council.  I certainly was at that meeting.

         17                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Give me one

         18  second, I want to swear you in.  Good afternoon.

         19  Could you raise your right hand?  Do you solemnly

         20  swear or affirm the testimony you're about to give

         21  is the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the

         22  truth?

         23                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  I do.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         25  Could you please for the record state your name and
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          2  organization you're with?

          3                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  MarySol Rodriguez,

          4  Director of New York City Affairs, the Partnership

          5  for New York City.

          6                 I was at the meeting that the

          7  Chairman alluded to earlier this morning -- this

          8  afternoon about the business community, hence here

          9  we are today.

         10                 The fiscal crisis facing New York

         11  City forces us to carefully examine the city's

         12  option for choosing the budget gap -- for closing

         13  the budget gap including tax increases, expenditure

         14  reductions, adjustment to pension programs,

         15  financing, tort reform and many others.  During the

         16  past year the Partnership has represented the city

         17  business community in many discussions with the

         18  Mayor and the City Council as to which options would

         19  be the most beneficial for the city's long- term

         20  economic interest.  Our members have been surprised

         21  to learn from these discussions how little control

         22  the city has over its own destiny.

         23                 To a large degree the state

         24  government makes the important decisions and not

         25  necessarily on the merits of what is good for the
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          2  five boroughs as opposed to statewide or even

          3  upstate consideration.

          4                 A good example is the Wicks law.  The

          5  Office of Management & Budget informs us that the

          6  Wicks law will cost the city about 1.6 billion over

          7  the next ten years. When the Partnership approached

          8  Albany about the elimination of this out- of- date

          9  law that was created in 1912, we found that the

         10  state Legislature will resist eliminating this

         11  imposition on municipal construction contracting

         12  because of upstate's interests in preserving the

         13  current system.  This means we must mobilize an

         14  effort to get an exception for cities over 1 million

         15  population which is the usual method for Albany to

         16  acknowledge that this city has unique issues that

         17  require different treatment than the rest of the

         18  state.

         19                 Another example is in the field of

         20  education, where the degree of state intervention in

         21  school administration budget and governance adds

         22  significantly to the cost of bureaucracy and the

         23  inflexibility of the system.

         24  The State Legislature and State Department of

         25  Education have created a compendium of laws that
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          2  limit and frustrate municipal efforts to implement

          3  reform in a system that has failed many of our

          4  city's children.

          5                 New York suffers under virtually

          6  every state funding formula.            The federal

          7  transportation aid that is destined for New York

          8  City is lost during the allocation process from the

          9  state to the city.  For example, the city moves

         10  about 84% of the state transit's riders but receives

         11  only 63% of the dollars available to support mass

         12  transit. As a result, it cost the city over 325

         13  million a year to subsidize the transit system.    The

         14  Council has determined that city tax payers send the

         15  state 3.5 billion more in revenues than we receive

         16  back in aid or service.  That's almost the size of

         17  the municipal budget deficit.

         18                 On Sunday the New York Daily News

         19  editorial stated, "Secession is an intriguing idea,

         20  but the quest should be for the truth to be

         21  promulgated.  Let everyone upstate and downstate see

         22  to what extent the local treasury is being raided.

         23  The city's delegation should demand an annual report

         24  from the state that shows exactly how much tax

         25  revenue each county sends to Albany.  Let each New
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          2  Yorker be aware of the imbalance of payment.  It

          3  would be a good first step in trying to correct the

          4  same."

          5                 New York City's economy generates

          6  close to half of the state tax revenue and it is not

          7  free to tap that wealth to solve its own problem in

          8  the way it sees fit.  Its money flows out, mandates

          9  and regulations flow in.

         10                 The Partnership supports the idea of

         11  a commission to evaluate the city/state relationship

         12  and examine all options including secession.  The

         13  commission should focus on state and city

         14  relationship in terms of where state mandates make

         15  sense and where they do not.

         16  Ultimately Congress is unlikely to confer statehood

         17  on New York City, but it makes sense to remind both

         18  Washington, D.C. And Albany of the contributions New

         19  York City makes to the tax base and the economy and

         20  the extent to which this contribution is jeopardized

         21  by our inability to respond effectively and

         22  immediately to craft local solutions to the problems

         23  that we confront today.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very
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          2  much. That was a very interesting meeting that we

          3  had.  I want to thank you and ask you to thank

          4  Katherine Wild and the members of the organization

          5  for their hospitality and their attentiveness to our

          6  concerns that morning.

          7                 I recall one of the big focuses at

          8  the time had to do with the commuter tax.  Did you

          9  have any thoughts that you wanted to share with us

         10  in terms of the Partnership's position on that at

         11  this time?

         12                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Well, the Partnership

         13  has been in favor of restoration of a commuter tax

         14  and we had been lobbying Albany and our legislators

         15  up there and the leadership up there very thoroughly

         16  in support of the Mayor and the City Council on

         17  that.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  You didn't have

         19  any specific type of commuter tax per se that you

         20  were focusing on I recall at the time, but you just

         21  liked the idea of the -- or did you have a specific

         22  one in mind?

         23                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  No, we didn't have a

         24  specific -- we were looking at about a 1.1% type of

         25  commuter tax, but I don't believe that we had
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          2  reached a definite decision on that.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Very good.  Any

          4  questions?  Councilwoman Provenzano?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Thank

          6  you, Mr. Chairman.  Thank you for being here.  I

          7  think it's interesting and helpful that the

          8  Partnership is with us on this and I think we all

          9  agree that the state certainly needs us a lot more

         10  than we need them.

         11                 One of the items that you mentioned

         12  here and it's just a little bit before my time, the

         13  Wicks law.

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Could you

         16  maybe explain to us exactly what that is?

         17                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  The Wicks law is a 97

         18  year old law which has remained as is since it was

         19  enacted without any type of amendments to it.  What

         20  it requires is that state and local governments use

         21  multi- prime contractors for electrical work,

         22  plumbing and heating and ventilation and air

         23  condition for public construction projects costing

         24  more than 500,000.  So in essence what happens is

         25  that the city becomes like a de factor general
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          2  contractor.  Numerous studies, studies after studies

          3  have shown that what happens is project costs are

          4  raised anywhere between 15% to 25%. Some studies

          5  have it at 30%.  Also the delay in projects.  A

          6  typical project that could be completed in 12 month,

          7  it usually takes an additional 13 to 24 months to

          8  complete.  We have been doing -- we've been

          9  advocating for the repeal, i.e. The restructure of

         10  the Wicks law and have been in conversation with

         11  labors.  Certainly, Councilwoman, I will forward to

         12  you a simple one or two pages that we have on the

         13  Wick laws and our efforts.  We believe this is the

         14  year, given the fiscal crisis, to repeal the Wicks

         15  law.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  I would

         17  really appreciate receiving that because maybe we as

         18  a Council could, you know, do a resolution or

         19  whatever we could do to certainly encourage the

         20  repeal of that.

         21                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO:  Again,

         23  thank you for bringing it to our attention.

         24                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member
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          2  Vallone?

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I'd just

          4  like to thank you for your support of our --

          5                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  -- Of our

          7  idea and people should realize our idea is just a

          8  commission to study secession.  We're not at the

          9  secession level yet, but I want you to take my

         10  thanks back to Katherine Wild who I've been dealing

         11  with on this.  I do look forward to continuing to

         12  get -- to keep our conversation going on this.

         13  Thank you.

         14                 MS. RODRIGUEZ:  Thank you.  We look

         15  forward to continuing dialogue with the Council.

         16  Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         18  much. Appreciate your attendance.

         19                 Representing the City Council Finance

         20  Division, Larian Angelo.

         21                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

         22  afternoon.

         23                 MS. ANGELO:  Good afternoon.

         24                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Could you

         25  raise your right hand?  Do you solemnly swear or
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          2  affirm the testimony you're about to give is the

          3  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

          4                 MS. ANGELO:  Yes.

          5                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

          6  Could you please state your name for the record and

          7  who you're with?

          8                 MS. ANGELO:  Larian Angelo, Director

          9  of Finance Division, City Council.

         10                 I guess secession or the question of

         11  secession has many components, how people feel

         12  politically about their leaders in Albany, do people

         13  feel a community of interest with the rest of the

         14  state, does the rest of the state feel a community

         15  of interest with us, but certainly a centerpiece of

         16  any discussion of a parting of the ways between New

         17  York City and Albany would involve could the city be

         18  viable from a fiscal point of view without the

         19  state.

         20                 Now, at the first look at it, you

         21  would think, no, given the enormous amounts of state

         22  aid that come to the city either from the state or

         23  flow from the federal government through Albany to

         24  New York City.

         25                 On the other hand, when you see the
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          2  huge balance of payments deficit, you begin to

          3  realize that in fact, perhaps, the city would be

          4  viable in a fiscal sense on its own without the

          5  state.  In fact, it might even do somewhat better.

          6                 It appears that if the city were to

          7  become it's own state we would probably be able to

          8  lower the tax burden on residents and businesses and

          9  still finance the functions that the city must

         10  finance now in the absence of state aid.  New York

         11  State is a fairly high tax jurisdiction among

         12  states, although not the highest, and New York City

         13  is certainly a high tax jurisdiction among

         14  municipalities, some would say the highest.

         15  Therefore, that puts the city in a position to

         16  capture those revenues that at this moment are going

         17  to the state and in fact even lower the tax burden

         18  when you combine the tax burden between the city and

         19  the state taxes and still be able to finance all

         20  that we need to finance.

         21                 We actually believe that we could

         22  probably do about a 13% tax cut across the board and

         23  still have more money -- when I say 13% tax cut, I

         24  don't mean a 13% tax cut on the current city tax

         25  rates, but rather a 13% tax cut on the combined
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          2  city/state tax rates and still have sufficient funds

          3  to finance all that gets funded.  Part of the reason

          4  for this, but again this would be, obviously, the

          5  subject matter of a detailed study from the

          6  commission, part of the reason the city would be in

          7  this position is that New York State, almost unique

          8  among the states in the union, push a tremendous

          9  share of the Medicaid burden onto their localities.

         10  We've looked at other states and from what we can

         11  see we believe only Arizona does worse by its

         12  localities.  So this is a $4 billion --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me just be

         14  clear what you're saying.  You're saying only

         15  Arizona of the 51 states does worse by its

         16  localities?

         17                 MS. ANGELO:  Yeah, in terms of the

         18  share of Medicaid burden.  That's as far as we can

         19  see.  It's undisputable that New York State is

         20  certainly among the worst, if it's not the worst, in

         21  pushing costs from itself onto its localities.

         22                 Now, on the other hand, the state

         23  would complain, rightly, this is only passing the

         24  football, because the federal government shifts

         25  their costs onto the state and the state then
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          2  chooses to shift those costs on to us.

          3                 What this does is it makes the local

          4  jurisdiction, or it puts the local jurisdiction at a

          5  tax disadvantage, simply because a large percentage

          6  of the folks eligible for this service happen to

          7  live in the jurisdiction.  Most economists will tell

          8  you it is always better to finance social welfare at

          9  a higher level rather than a lower level of

         10  jurisdiction.

         11                 So I guess this is a problem we can

         12  start criticizing the federal government for and

         13  then criticize Albany for because they shift it down

         14  on to us.

         15                 Of course, there are a variety of

         16  other unfunded mandates that the state chooses to

         17  push down to the city.  Some of them are substantial

         18  in terms of costs and some of them are substantial

         19  in terms of irritation.

         20                 For example, when the state helped

         21  the city out of the fiscal crisis in the mid '70s, a

         22  large component of that was the state takeover of

         23  the four- year institutions at CUNY.  The state then

         24  made a promise to fund four-year institutions in the

         25  city.  The state has not quite kept its promise in
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          2  that and there are several institutions, Medgar

          3  Evers one of them, where their two-year programs are

          4  not fully funded although they are in fact fully,

          5  you know, four- year institutions.  While this is

          6  only a cost of 20 million to the city, it tends to

          7  be one of those things that become very irritating,

          8  irritating beyond the actual cost because it appears

          9  to be a promise broken.

         10                 Another inequity that's actually

         11  substantial is the transit subsidy, 325 million.

         12  Now, although 325 million is large, it's certainly

         13  not as large as the $4 billion Medicaid cost shift,

         14  but it really tends to make people in the city very

         15  angry because we're a place that uses mass transit

         16  and we move, as MarySol said from the Partnership,

         17  we move a large percentage of the public

         18  transportation riders in the state and get a much

         19  smaller return.

         20                 I think, of course, the third

         21  disproportionate or unfair formula is education.

         22  While at this point it would be true to say that the

         23  city has about 38% of the students and it does get

         24  about 38% of the funding, that doesn't take into

         25  account the needs of city students and it also
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          2  becomes quite difficult when the Governor of your

          3  own state joins a lawsuit against the children of

          4  the City of New York.  While the Governor didn't say

          5  an eighth grade education is sufficient, certainly

          6  he was part of the lawsuit that led to that

          7  statement being made.

          8                 So it does appear that in fiscal

          9  terms -- oh, I guess I should, the commuter tax,

         10  which is another, clearly another sore spot in New

         11  York City.  The staff looked at places,

         12  municipalities that have some form of income tax,

         13  either income tax, wage tax, payroll tax, whatever

         14  and we found that among the cities that do have some

         15  form of income tax we are the only one that does not

         16  have a commuter tax and that includes Yonkers.  So

         17  we found 21 cities with some form of personal income

         18  tax and 20 out of the 21 cities, including Yonkers

         19  in our own state, have a commuter tax.

         20                 The other interesting thing we found

         21  is that most other cities tax their commuters at the

         22  same rate as their residents or at very nearly the

         23  same rate as their residents.  When we had a

         24  commuter tax we had probably the most modest

         25  commuter tax in the nation in relation to the local
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          2  resident rate.

          3                 So while the staff would be hesitant

          4  to say definitively that New York City would be a

          5  viable fiscal jurisdiction without the state,

          6  because there are many issues that need to be looked

          7  at, the prisons, et cetera, certainly there's enough

          8  indication with the data that we could be a viable

          9  fiscal jurisdiction.  It does appear to merit

         10  further study.  Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         12  much.  I want to acknowledge the presence of Council

         13  Member Charles Barron.  I'm going to have some

         14  questions from, first from Council Member Mike

         15  Nelson.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Thank you,

         17  Mr. Chair.

         18                 Our commuter tax is what, .045 and

         19  other municipalities was above 1% in some cases,

         20  right?

         21                 MS. ANGELO:  Yeah.  Most

         22  municipalities tax their commuters at nearly the

         23  same rate or at the same rate. Now in fairness, most

         24  municipalities have lower resident rates than New

         25  York City.  Our commuter tax was .455% of wages and

                                                            46

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND REVENUE FORECASTING

          2   .655% of business or unearned income.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I think it's

          4  a story that needs to be told again --

          5                 MS. ANGELO:  Less than 1%.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  -- And again

          7  so the press repeats that story so people can get as

          8  upset as those of us who know about that.  Do you

          9  think somebody should hit somebody else with a wet

         10  fish?

         11                 MS. ANGELO:  Perhaps.  I couldn't

         12  comment --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Would you

         14  explain where the greatest inequities lie?

         15                 MS. ANGELO:  Well, again, the

         16  greatest dollar inequity lies in the Medicaid

         17  problem and, again, this is a problem that

         18  originates in Washington and then rolls down to the

         19  state and then comes right down the Hudson to New

         20  York City.  As the speaker pointed out in his state

         21  of the city speech, the federal government fully

         22  funds some programs and Social Security and Medicare

         23  are the model of that.  The federal government

         24  determines, probably everyone thinks correctly, that

         25  the elderly deserve support.  Then later in the '60s
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          2  that they deserved help with medical care.  When the

          3  federal government decided that, they funded those

          4  programs.  In a way it is a model because New York

          5  City spends about $150 million a year helping out

          6  seniors with their quality of life, senior centers,

          7  et cetera, but doesn't bear the burden of direct

          8  support for senior citizens.  So that supporting the

          9  elderly is not a problem in localities.

         10                 The other federal program, one of the

         11  other federal programs fully funded is support to

         12  states for farm aid.  No state has a match for farm

         13  aid and in some cases, for example Arkansas, farm

         14  aid into the farmers into that state is quite

         15  substantial, over $800 million.  There's no local

         16  match.  Why localities have to do a federal match

         17  for aid to poor people who need medical care?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  A graven

         19  mistake.

         20                 MS. ANGELO:  Yeah, and don't need to

         21  do a match for poor farmers who need aid, although

         22  much of that goes to agricultural corporations.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  Do you have a

         24  complete list of all of the inequitable -- by the

         25  way, the theme, of course, is fair share -- the
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          2  inequities with the percentages between education

          3  and all the way down the line there's a number, we

          4  send up 17%, we get back 12% and so on?

          5                 MS. ANGELO:  I believe that will be

          6  found in NewYorkCityBoosters.com, which is the

          7  website.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  You didn't

          9  bring it with you, did you?  I'd distribute it to

         10  the press.  They probably already have it, though.

         11  Everybody should have -- every New Yorker should see

         12  that and really get upset about this.  What are the

         13  ways you see to possibly raise revenues?

         14                 MS. ANGELO:  In the context of

         15  secession?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  With or

         17  without. Let's try it first without.

         18                 MS. ANGELO:  In the context of the,

         19  as my colleague David Rubenstein said, the historic

         20  action taken by the two state Legislatures yesterday

         21  where you see substantial improvements for New York

         22  City when you compare it to the Governor's budget,

         23  there still will be some shortfall in New York City.

         24    And then the Council will need to decide how it

         25  will fill that shortfall, which will be much smaller
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          2  than the shortfall had the Governor's budget

          3  obviously been the state budget.  That will be the

          4  choice Council members will make between or among

          5  cuts, a personal income tax increase, a sales tax

          6  increase, et cetera, some business tax increases,

          7  which will all be considered.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON:  I'm sure

          9  we'll be doing a lot of that in the near future.

         10  Thank you, Miss Angelo.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Council Member

         12  Addabbo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chair.  Marion, thank you for your time and

         15  testimony.

         16                 In comparing, you had mentioned back

         17  in the mid '70s did the Finance Division do or find

         18  that the disparity of funding, the inequity of

         19  funding has grown greater since, I'd say, the Cuomo

         20  administration and even before that, the Carey

         21  administration and now with the Pataki

         22  administration, is that space widened between the

         23  funding of upstate projects or programs as opposed

         24  to downstate?

         25                 MS. ANGELO:  Not as far back as '75,
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          2  but I do believe that general state revenue sharing

          3  has declined over time but I couldn't -- we did not

          4  go back as far as the mid '70s when the state

          5  government rescued the city from its financial

          6  difficulties.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  And

          8  basically it would be safe to say, generally

          9  speaking, that again the disparity between the

         10  funding between upstate and downstate is growing

         11  larger or that gap is widening as the years go on?

         12                 MS. ANGELO:  Well, it probably is.

         13  If the main driver is Medicaid, and it is the main

         14  driver, and health care costs are rising all the

         15  time, then, yeah, it certainly in dollar terms will

         16  be widening.  I mean, I seem to recall there was a

         17  time in the early '90s where Medicaid represented 2

         18  1/2 to $3 billion in local expenditure.  Now it will

         19  be 4 billion.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  If it's

         21  widening or very bad at this point, we would just

         22  see how much worse we're going to be getting in the

         23  near future.

         24                 MS. ANGELO:  Well, no one is really

         25  forecasting a long- term stabilization in health
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          2  care costs. And, you know, people get sick, they

          3  need to be cared for. Science moves on there are

          4  more and more things you can do to care for people.

          5  It's going to cost more and more money.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ADDABBO:  Thank you.

          7  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          9  much. Councilman Vallone.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you.

         11  Larian, I know you and I have spoken many times.  I

         12  won't ask you all of our questions.  I want to

         13  respond to Councilman Addabbo a second.  There was a

         14  study done by the Center for Governmental Research,

         15  I believe, through 1997 which showed the inequity

         16  was 2.6 at that time, so it has grown at least that

         17  much.

         18                 Larian, like I said, we've spoken but

         19  your testimony has apparently excited our Chairman

         20  so much that he said that Arizona and New York out

         21  of the 51 states, so he's including New York City as

         22  a state already.  I thank you for that.  Thanks for

         23  coming down.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Councilman

         25  Barron.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

          3  very much. I want to commend the Chair for this

          4  hearing.  I think it's a very important debate and

          5  discussion that's going on.  I also want to probably

          6  say something very historic, and the media might

          7  want to pay attention to this 'cause it'll probably

          8  never be said again in the very near future, I want

          9  to commend Peter Vallone, Jr. For bringing this -- I

         10  shall not repeat that.  That hurt, Peter.  That took

         11  a lot out of me.  But I do want to commend you for

         12   -- I think this is a critical issue, a very

         13  important issue and for opening up the debate and

         14  the discussion and exploration of it.  Part of my

         15  reason for commending him is very selfish, I want to

         16  become the first Governor of the great New York --

         17  oh, yes, Lieutenant Governor, yes, absolutely,

         18  Lieutenant Governor -- Governor.  Well, I'll have to

         19  check with Bill Perkins first. We might want to take

         20  both positions.

         21                 The sum total, what I've been trying

         22  to get

         23   -- I know there are a lot of particulars around

         24  health, transportation, corrections and different

         25  taxes and stuff like that, but in the larger picture
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          2  if secession occurs, and looking at the relationship

          3  that a state has to have with the federal

          4  government, putting that into the formula, do we

          5  come out on top fiscally, better off when we sever

          6  the ties with the state and then we have to have new

          7  ties with the federal government that the city

          8  didn't have before? When you weigh it all out, are

          9  we actually better off as a state fiscally,

         10  financially.

         11                 MS. ANGELO:  Well, you know that --

         12  well, perhaps.  Perhaps.  And that again I hope

         13  would be the subject matter of the commission.  I

         14  mean, you shouldn't assume that New York City would

         15  have a better relationship with the federal

         16  government than New York State has had with the

         17  federal government.  If anything, you might assume a

         18  little worse, so we would then have to take onto

         19  ourselves, as our own state probably 50% of

         20  Medicaid.  So we would not only pay the 4 billion we

         21  pay now we'd pay another 4 billion which is the

         22  state's share.  And, you know, a similar situation

         23  with --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  But when you

         25  add
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          2  all of the revenue stuff that we'll be able to do,

          3  how does it --

          4                 MS. ANGELO:  As I said, we believe

          5  you could probably finance all you needed to finance

          6  in the absence of state aid with a reduction in the

          7  total tax burden city and state on our residences

          8  and businesses.  You know, a variety of things

          9  happen.  You no longer pay the state PIT, which was

         10  at 6.8% and now we'll be a bit over 7 if you make

         11  over $100,000 a year, so the city then can capture

         12  that in its residents.  So you would raise the city

         13  rate but it would still be below the combined rate

         14  so you're getting more revenue and yet the

         15  individual is paying out less in total taxes.

         16  Similarly for businesses I assume the city would be

         17  the only state in the nation with a property tax

         18  since we have it we'd probably want to keep it.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  But roll back

         20  the increase.

         21                 MS. ANGELO:  But obviously roll back

         22  the increase.  So it appears that the city would be,

         23  again, fiscally viable but, again, there are other

         24  issues, prisons, et cetera that need to be looked

         25  at.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

          3  very much, Mr. Chair.

          4                 MS. ANGELO:  I just will say, we

          5  would then at the end of the day still be a

          6  relatively high tax state, although the combined tax

          7  burden would be lower.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  What would be

          9  the benefits of our new relationship with the

         10  federal government, the pluses?

         11                 MS. ANGELO:  Well, you know, the

         12  federal government tends to deal with states, not

         13  municipalities, so we would have --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  I'm saying as

         15  a state.

         16                 MS. ANGELO:  Right.  So now we would

         17  instead of having to often deal with the federal

         18  government through the Governor in Albany -- and,

         19  you know, there are various moments where that may

         20  be crucial, perhaps after 9/11 the city might have

         21  done better if someone more directly connected to

         22  the city had made the initial case to Washington.

         23  The Governor had proposed about a $54 billion

         24  recovery plan.  Some of the items were for projects

         25  upstate and the federal government did not take that
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          2  well.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Is there any

          4  beneficial revenue streams or relationship with the

          5  federal government, anything that would be more

          6  beneficial?

          7                 MS. ANGELO:  Well, we wouldn't pay

          8  the -- we would not -- there's a 1% administrative

          9  charge for FEMA money.  I assume if we were a

         10  city/state, Albany would not have gotten that 1%,

         11  although it did not reduce the amount we got.  It

         12  just was an additional payment from the federal

         13  government.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  Thank you

         15  very much.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Mr.

         17  Chairman, based upon what Charles Barron just said,

         18  can I rethink my support for this proposition?

         19  Thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         21  much, Miss Angelo.  Appreciate your testimony and

         22  your service to the city on behalf of the City

         23  Council.

         24                 Ronnie Lowenstein from the

         25  Independent Budget Office.  I understand that you
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          2  are a little slow these days.

          3                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Physically.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Physically.

          5  What -- fast enough.

          6                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

          7  afternoon.  Could you raise your right hand?  Do you

          8  solemnly swear or affirm -- both of you -- are you

          9  going to testify?  Okay.  Do you solemnly swear or

         10  affirm the testimony you're about to give is the

         11  truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         12                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Yes.

         13                 MR. SWEETING:  Yes.

         14                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Could you each

         15  for the record state your name and the organization

         16  you're affiliated with?

         17                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  I'm Ronnie

         18  Lowenstein.  I'm Director of the city's Independent

         19  Budget Office.

         20                 MR. SWEETING (phonetic):  George

         21  Sweeting, Deputy Director of the Independent Budget

         22  Office.

         23                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Okay.  Thank you

         24  very much for the invitation to testify.  The main

         25  idea I'd like to get across here is that there's a
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          2  fundamental mismatch, a fiscal mismatch, if you

          3  will, between the fiscal structure of New York City

          4  and our political control over our own budget, a

          5  fiscal mismatch between our structure and our fiscal

          6  authority.  That's a source of long- term tension

          7  between the state and the city.  There are many,

          8  many different ways to address it, many far short of

          9  secession, but ultimately these are problems that

         10  the city and the state are going to have to jointly

         11  address for our mutual well- being.

         12                 The argument I think could be made

         13  most simply in terms of taxes and the summary form

         14  of that is that the city's tax system is way more

         15  like a state's than a city's.  Unlike other local

         16  governments we tend to rely on lots of tax sources

         17  that fluctuate over the course of the business

         18  cycle.  That might be an okay thing to do in good

         19  times but in bad times what it means is that we're

         20  particularly hurting in times like now.  But at the

         21  same time, because of our lack of control over our

         22  tax system, because we are a creature of the state,

         23  our ability to change those taxes when our revenues

         24  fall short is very limited and that puts us in a

         25  bind.
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          2                 Some of the same problems arise on

          3  the spending side, as Larian noted, particularly

          4  concerning Medicaid, but if you put it all together

          5  what we see is that it's a mismatch.  I mean, it's a

          6  disconnect between what our tax system and what our

          7  spending looks like and how much control we have

          8  over our taxes and spending.  That's been the source

          9  of lots of long- term problems and really has to be

         10  addressed.

         11                 Let me go more deeply into taxes for

         12  a couple of minutes and discuss how the little --

         13  like Public Finance 101.  The only -- for local

         14  governments the major tax source is always the

         15  property tax.  There are lots of reasons for that

         16  but basically it's the quintessential local tax

         17  because it's so stable.  It doesn't vary a lot from

         18  one year to the next.  Moreover, there are lot of

         19  efficiency and competitiveness reasons for a

         20  property tax.  It's very hard to take up a chunk of

         21  land, take it out of the city at 5:00 and go to New

         22  Jersey to avoid paying taxes on it.  You just don't

         23  do that.  It's there, it's a captive audience.  Year

         24  in and year out it provides a fairly steady stream

         25  of revenues.
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          2                 The reason that's important for a

          3  local government like New York is because we finance

          4  essential services.  You know, we do the public

          5  safety, we do the garbage, we do the education.

          6  These are things that have to happen in good years

          7  and in bad years and so we have to rely on a tax

          8  source that's really stable to do that.  That's fine

          9  in theory but in practice New York's reliance on the

         10  property tax isn't all that much.  It may be our

         11  single largest revenue source, but it only makes up

         12  about two fifths of all tax revenues for the city

         13  and it's very, very low for a locality.

         14                 Moreover, it's unusual amongst even

         15  big cities to be so heavily reliant on tax sources

         16  other than property taxes.  When we stacked up the

         17  ten largest cities in the country and looked at

         18  their tax systems the only one that looked even

         19  remotely like us was Philadelphia.  But even there

         20  we were more heavily reliant on cyclically sensitive

         21  taxes other than the property tax, the other taxes

         22  like income taxes, than anybody else.

         23                 Moreover, we don't have a whole lot

         24  of control over our property tax either.  I mean, we

         25  can control the rate but that's about it.  So those
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          2  long- term important issues about the structure of

          3  the property tax, which I guess IBO has harangued

          4  people about for the whole seven years we've been

          5  around, are outside of the city's control as well.

          6                 In order to supplement the property

          7  tax, since it's only like two- fifths of what we

          8  raise, the city relies heavily on a broad array of

          9  other kinds of taxes. They're mainly income taxes on

         10  people and on businesses. They're sales taxes.  We

         11  have a broader diversity of taxes than any other big

         12  city and probably any other city in the country.

         13  But given that broad array of taxes, most of which

         14  are very sensitive to the state of the local economy

         15  and the national economy, it makes our tax system

         16  look much more like a state's than a city's.

         17                 So we've got a tax system that looks

         18  like a state's, but we don't have the state's

         19  ability to control that tax system.  We can't change

         20  the rates on those taxes other than the property

         21  tax.  We can't change the structure of those taxes

         22  without legislation in Albany.  It's a particular

         23  problem -- sorry, do you want to -- okay.  That's a

         24  particular problem particularly when we're in a

         25  recession as we are now and revenues from these
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          2  cyclically sensitive taxes decline.  Our ability to

          3  deal with that problem is very, very limited, as all

          4  of you know, are painfully aware of, in a way that

          5  most New Yorkers are not.

          6                 It's not as much of a problem for

          7  state governments.  Yeah, sure they're being

          8  squeezed but they have the political control over

          9  their revenue systems to deal with it and for the

         10  federal government they're not required to balance

         11  their budget in the first place.  From a macropolicy

         12  point of view you don't want them to, you want them

         13  to be stimulating the economy to help pull us out of

         14  the mess we're in.

         15                 In short, it's the combination of

         16  having tax revenues that look more like a state's

         17  than a city's, but not have a state's control over

         18  our revenue structure that leads us into the bind

         19  that we're currently in.  You can make a similar

         20  argument on the spending side.  I think Larian ended

         21  it nicely.  It's not just New York that's in the

         22  bind that it is because of Medicaid, it's localities

         23  all across the state, but New York is unusual among

         24  states in requiring this kind of Medicaid sharing by

         25  its local governments. And, moreover, based upon our
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          2  data at least we get, our localities get hit harder

          3  than anyplace else in the country.

          4  So we get it on both sides, and what we've got is

          5  this mismatch or a disconnect between the structure

          6  of our fiscal taxes and our spending and the degree

          7  to which we have political control over them.  Is it

          8  a problem?  No question. But there are lots of

          9  different ways to address the problem. The written

         10  testimony has some of it in it.  There are things we

         11  could do to say get the state to take over Medicaid

         12  in exchange for a swap with perhaps sales taxes. We

         13  could find ways to get more control over our taxes

         14  whether it's the structure of those taxes or perhaps

         15  being allowed to move tax rates within broad

         16  brackets.  Lots of different ways to do it that

         17  don't necessarily imply secession.  But ultimately,

         18  the long- term fiscal and economic health of both

         19  the city and the state depend on our finding ways to

         20  get around the problems.

         21                 Thank you.  I'd be delighted to take

         22  questions.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         24  much. The bottom line, I guess, is that fall all

         25  intents and purposes except one or two, we are a
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          2  state except we're not -- we don't have the powers

          3  of a state.

          4                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  That's a big except.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  And that's a

          6  big except.  So you might say we look like a duck,

          7  we quack like a duck, we walk like a duck but we're

          8  not allowed to fly, so to speak, or whatever.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BARRON:  We look a

         10  golden goose, we quack like a golden goose --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

         12  much.  I think that was a very, very insightful

         13  analysis of our situation and I really, really

         14  appreciate it because I think fundamentally what

         15  we're trying to do is understand this situation that

         16  we're in as a city in terms of our relationship with

         17  the state and why is it that we feel so handcuffed

         18  at such critical moments and how do we -- how do we

         19  address it.  Obviously this resolution -- this

         20  introduction addresses it in terms of secession but

         21  clearly there may be other ways, but there

         22  definitely has to be come way.  We cannot continue

         23  to function like this.

         24                 Are there other municipalities as

         25  severely handcuffed, if I may, as New York City is?
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          2                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Well, on the

          3  spending side the problems are across the state.  On

          4  the tax side there's no other city, and George can

          5  jump in and correct me if I'm wrong, there's no

          6  other city that has the array of tax sources and

          7  cyclically sensitive taxes we have.  So even if

          8  you've got a city like Buffalo, there is no reliance

          9  on the income tax in Buffalo or -- yeah, there's no

         10  income tax, so it's mainly property taxes and sales

         11  taxes and transport taxes that they use and they're

         12  not -- they don't see those precipitous drops in

         13  those tax sources that we've seen over the last

         14  couple of years.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Now, nationally

         16  I think you suggested that perhaps Philadelphia was

         17  somewhat like New York.  Am I clear?

         18                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Yeah, I think

         19  Philadelphia's tax system is probably more like New

         20  York's than other large major -- other large cities

         21  across the country.  I might add that Philadelphia I

         22  think is also -- had difficulties in its

         23  relationship with the State of Pennsylvania and

         24  their level of autonomy and their ability to thrive

         25  as well.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          3  much. Council Member Vallone.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I'd like to

          5  add that Philadelphia wasn't attacked on 9/11.  It

          6  doesn't have the same situation facing it that we do

          7  right now which makes the state actions particularly

          8  egregious in this matter. Thank you for all the help

          9  you've been today and in the past.

         10                 You do say there are other ways to

         11  deal with this short of secession.  I agree, but

         12  every one that you've mentioned involves state

         13  action.  Correct?

         14                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  That's correct.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  So without

         16  state action we may be forced to look at this as an

         17  option.

         18                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Does it get that --

         19  I didn't -- is there state action of some sort

         20  required for secession?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  That's a

         22  good point. There is, but we're counting on if it

         23  gets that far the power of the people, let's put it

         24  that way.

         25                 Thank you again for your support and
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          2  your support for our actions today and your insight

          3  and analysis.

          4                 MS. LOWENSTEIN:  Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Professor Fred

          6  Siegel, Jonathan Bowles and Joel Berger.

          7                 While they're getting settled, I want

          8  to just double- check, is Joseph Vittirivi

          9  (phonetic), Professor -- No?  Okay.  Kim Knorr

         10  (phonetic)?

         11                 Thank you very much, gentlemen, for

         12  your attendance and your much anticipated testimony.

         13    Before we get started, Matthew Tollin, our

         14  counsel, will swear you in.

         15                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Good

         16  afternoon.  Could you raise your right hand?  Do you

         17  solemnly swear or affirm the testimony you're about

         18  to give is the truth, the whole truth and nothing

         19  but the truth?

         20                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  Yes.

         21                 MR. BOWLES:  Yes.

         22                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE:  Thank you.

         23  Could you each for the record state your name and

         24  who you're affiliated with?   Please speak into the

         25  microphone and hit the red button.
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          2                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  Fred Siegel,

          3  S-I-E-G-E-L, Professor at the Cooper Union and

          4  Senior Fellow at the Progressive Policy Institute in

          5  Washington.

          6                 MR. BOWLES:  Jonathan Bowles,

          7  Research Director, Center for an Urban Future,

          8  B-O-W-L-E-S.

          9                 MR. BERGER:  Joel Berger.  That's

         10  J-O-E-L  B-E-R-G-E-R.  I'm an attorney in private

         11  practice and was formerly on the executive staff of

         12  the Corporation Counsel's Office dealing with

         13  litigation matters concerning Staten Island

         14  secession back in the late '80s and early '90s.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I guess, Mr.

         16  Bowles, you might want to go first.  I thought I saw

         17  some left hands go up.  Maybe I was wrong.

         18                 MR. BOWLES:  You want me to go first?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  However you

         20  wish, Mr. Berger, Mr. Bowles, Mr. Siegel, you guys

         21  decide.

         22                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  Since what I'm

         23  going to say is a little different from what's been

         24  said before and likely to be said after me, let me

         25  go.
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          2                 I agree the city doesn't get its fair

          3  share, but that failure to get a fair share is a

          4  function of policies supported by this Council, the

          5  city's delegation in Albany and the city's

          6  delegation in Washington.

          7                 A perfect example, 1993 President

          8  Clinton, who I supported, raised taxes on upper

          9  income earners.  75% of the people hit by that tax

         10  increase on upward income earners, 75% of the people

         11  in the United States live within sight of the Empire

         12  State Building.  I would venture to guess that most

         13  members of the City Council are supporting the

         14  increase in taxes on people above $100,000 in

         15  Albany.

         16  When that happens, what will happen is more money

         17  from New York will go to Albany and less will stay

         18  in New York City. It's quite predictable.

         19                 People have mentioned Senator

         20  Moynihan repeatedly but they evidently haven't read

         21  his state of the fis reports that came out for 20

         22  years.  What he said over and over again, "If you

         23  combine high incomes in New York City with a highly

         24  progressive tax rate, we will always lose.  We will

         25  always lose."  There's no way around that.
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          2                 If we look at this new tax, this new

          3  tax increase that's coming out of Albany -- the new

          4  tax increases coming out of Albany they will be

          5  largely paid for by the 140,000 households in New

          6  York with incomes above $100,000.  There are very

          7  few people in the rest of the state with incomes

          8  that high.  Ronnie Lowenstein mentioned Buffalo.

          9  Buffalo doesn't have much of an economy to speak of.

         10    They won't be putting much into this kitty.

         11                 Now, another self- inflicted wound.

         12  Next year the city will pay an additional $1 billion

         13  in pension costs. $1 billion in pension costs.  That

         14  is almost entirely a function of the Assembly

         15  delegation from New York City supporting pension

         16  sweeteners and pension guarantees such that when the

         17  stock market declines and the city's economy

         18  declines, pensions stay the same.  The city makes up

         19  the difference.

         20                 Let me turn to Medicaid.  A lot of

         21  talk on Medicaid.  Obviously it's central.  We pay

         22   -- yes, we pay a local share of Medicaid.  How

         23  come?  Was this imposed on us by some alien force in

         24  Albany?  No.  When Medicaid was set up in the 1960s

         25  it was New York City politicians who insisted on
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          2  these arrangements.  They insisted on these

          3  arrangements in return for the most richly generous

          4  Medicaid plan anywhere in the United States.  Today

          5  New York State spends more on Medicaid with 17

          6  million people.  It spends more on Medicaid than

          7  Texas and California combined with 50 million

          8  people.  Are we healthier?  Not noticeably.

          9                 The 50% share has been mentioned.

         10  That should be changed.  Of course it should be

         11  changed.  That will be changed shortly after I make

         12  it into the NBA.

         13                 The United States Senate, as Moynihan

         14  liked to point out, is dominated by cities -- excuse

         15  me, by states with rural populations.  Why are they

         16  going to change a formula, why is Arkansas going to

         17  change a formula that benefits them?  When you think

         18  about this, always remember the Dakotas, which have

         19  less than the population of the Bronx, have four

         20  votes in the United States Senate.  Why are they

         21  going to change these spending formulas?  Every

         22  Mayor I've ever talked to talks about how he's going

         23  to change them.  It never happens nor will it

         24  happen.

         25                 Finally, you should ask yourself the
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          2  question why do we have a financial crisis once a

          3  decade?  Ronnie Lowenstein gave us part of the

          4  answer, but I would argue that the real answer, the

          5  core of the answer and the reason that the

          6  discussion of secession is a diversion is that our

          7  problem is that we spend far more than we can

          8  afford.

          9                 Our government is far larger than any

         10  other government in the United States.  Ms. Angelo

         11  said we're not the highest taxed state in the

         12  country.  No, we're not, but if we add state and

         13  local combined we're the highest taxed jurisdiction

         14  in the country.  We can't afford the government we

         15  have except in times of boom.

         16                 Now, some of you are old enough to

         17  remember the period between 1968 and 1982.  Wall

         18  Street went flat for 15 years and we had a fiscal

         19  crisis.  If Wall Street doesn't recover, and that's

         20  what the budget in Albany is based on, the idea

         21  there's going to be some miraculous boom, some

         22  miraculous recovery which will make up for these

         23  fantastic increases in spending, almost $3 billion

         24  in tax increases, $4 billion in borrowing.  The last

         25  time we did that it was 1990- 91.  Mayor Dinkins and
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          2  Governor Cuomo increased taxes drastically.  The

          3  rest of the country left the recession in 1992.  We

          4  didn't leave the recession 'til 1995.

          5                 I would suggest to you that while

          6  talk of secession is good for talking about, for

          7  exposing our structural relations with the state and

          8  the federal government, it is a diversion less we

          9  deal with the question of why we have so much more

         10  government than anyone else and why it is we insist

         11  on having more government than we can afford.  Thank

         12  you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Next?  Council

         14  Member Vallone?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

         16  Chair, I just think because he's saying something

         17  completely different it's better to ask questions

         18  now before I forget them, actually.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Thank you,

         21  Mr. Siegel.  Strangely enough I agree with just

         22  about everything you said about what's been going on

         23  in the city and on a state and federal level and

         24  much of it is just inexcusable irresponsibility by

         25  our state and federal representatives.
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          2  That would happen whether we're a state or not here,

          3  and there's nothing anyone can do about that.

          4                 What I personally believe is that

          5  much of this happens because there is no spotlight

          6  on what they're doing.  No one cares what's

          7  happening in Albany and Washington, but if the City

          8  Council does something it's front page of every

          9  paper in this room.  I think that that action would

         10  be far less likely to happen if they were

         11  responsible for their actions first of all and if a

         12  spotlight was placed on their actions we could very

         13  easily remove them.  Again, if it's not a statewide

         14  official making these decision, it's different from

         15  a citywide official making these decisions.

         16                 I don't agree with you that the fact

         17  that it's city legislators who are largely

         18  responsible for some of these actions, much like the

         19  commuter tax supported by some of the most powerful

         20  people from the city.  The fact that city

         21  legislators did this I don't believe that we can

         22  jump to the conclusion that that means a study of

         23  secession is not a good idea.  You're right, it's a

         24  huge problem but I don't know how that relates to

         25  secession.
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          2                 MR. SIEGEL:  It reflects to it, to

          3  the effect -- to the degree to which it diverts

          4  attention from the core problem, to the extent that

          5  the study of secession talks about these structural

          6  issues and opens up the questions, it's a good

          7  thing.  To the extent it's an attempt to avoid them,

          8  it will be a bad thing.  The joke in Washington,

          9  where I spend a fair amount of time, is that New

         10  York has the best 19th century Legislature in the

         11  United States.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Let me

         13  interject just so it's clear, I think that the

         14  intent is, as you suggest it should be, I just want

         15  it for the record, that's why I believe the

         16  legislation was initially introduced and why it was

         17  thought appropriate to have it during this period

         18  when these type of structural problems could be

         19  focused on as you were trying to focus on them in

         20  your testimony.  So it's very appropriate for you to

         21  emphasize that especially in light of the purposes

         22  for why we are having this hearing to begin with.

         23  Because one could suggest that it's a quixotic

         24  notion to secede, but that's a debate for those who

         25  were supporting it and for those who were not

                                                            76

          1  GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS AND REVENUE FORECASTING

          2  supporting it.           Without a doubt, we all

          3  would agree that there's some structural concerns

          4  here that are unavoidable and seem to be coming more

          5  and more unavoidable as we go forward with our city

          6  and confront these types of fiscal crises that seem

          7  to get worse and worse over time.  So, I appreciate

          8  the focus that you're having and want to assure you

          9  that to a significant extent that's the focus we're

         10  having.  I'd just like to make sure that for those

         11  who may not know, by city legislators you mean state

         12  legislators?

         13                 MR. SIEGEL:  Right.  Members of state

         14  legislature from New York City.  I'm not referring

         15  to the Council.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I just wanted

         17  to make sure because that sometimes can be mistaken

         18  and I think the Councilman was trying to make sure

         19  that it was not us that was responsible for this.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Oh, we've

         21  been pretty responsible, too, on occasion, on

         22  occasion, but not on the whole.

         23                 I don't know if this is at all

         24  relevant to what you said, but it's probably the

         25  best time to bring it up.  This does enjoy a large,
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          2  a good amount of state support also.  I've traveled

          3  the state, as have you, and when my father ran for

          4  Governor.  There's not a lot of love up there for

          5  us.  I'm just going to read to you a quote from a

          6  bill that says, "There's a large degree of apparent

          7  support for dividing New York into two separate

          8  states so as to separate the distinct social and

          9  political concerns between upstate and downstate New

         10  York."  And that's not a bill that was largely

         11  crafted by Matthew Tollin, that's a bill that was

         12  introduced upstate by upstate legislators for the

         13  last ten years to get rid of us.  Exactly, as

         14  Madeline Provenzano says.  There's no love for us

         15  lost up there.  The way they put it, because they're

         16  elected officials and have to be politically

         17  correct, I'm quoting the sponsor of the bill, James

         18  McCallus (phonetic), "For those of us that represent

         19  upstate New York it's just, how do I say this, the

         20  state is so diverse that my constituents have a hard

         21  time identifying with the people who live in the

         22  city."  So there's some other reasons behind this,

         23  also.  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Any other

         25  questions?
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          2  Next.

          3                 MR. BERGER:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4  As I said, my name is Joel Berger.  I want to thank

          5  you very much for inviting me here today.

          6                 This bill brings back some very fond

          7  memories.  As I said, I was lead counsel in both the

          8  Koch and Dinkins administrations in litigation that

          9  sought to block the process for secession of Staten

         10  Island back in the late 1980s and early 1990s.  At

         11  the time I was on the executive staff of the

         12  Corporation Counsel's Office working under

         13  Corporation Counsel Peter Zimroth (phonetic) and

         14  especially Victor Kovenor (phonetic).  Although I'm

         15  in private practice today, I vividly recall the

         16  battles that we fought on Staten Island's secession.

         17    Both the legal issues that arose at that time and

         18  the political issues are very instructive with

         19  respect to what is being discussed here today.

         20                 Basically I am here to support your

         21  efforts. I think this bill is a very good thing and

         22  I think that you should pursue it.  First let me

         23  just briefly go over the legal issues which are a

         24  little more boring but something you do need to know

         25  about.
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          2                 Obviously your counsel has drafted a

          3  bill that's modeled after the one that created a

          4  process for the consideration of Staten Island

          5  secession back in the later '80s and late '90s.  It

          6  was Chapter 773 of the laws of 1989 in the

          7  Legislature.  That bill was upheld against the

          8  challenge that we in the Koch and Dinkins'

          9  administrations mounted.  It was upheld in the New

         10  York State Court of Appeals.  The citations to the

         11  case which is called City of New York vs. State of

         12  New York is in my written remarks.

         13                 That bill, just like the one that you

         14  have drafted here essentially was a three- part

         15  process.  It called for an initial referendum to

         16  consider setting up a commission, then a commission

         17  to study and draft proposals and a third referendum

         18  to vote the proposals up or down. The Court of

         19  Appeals said there was no harm in that and the

         20  rationale of that decision which was most important

         21  to what you're doing here today was that Chapter 773

         22  of the laws of 1989 did not actually bring about

         23  secession.  All it did was ascertain views of the

         24  people, study a question and ascertain their views

         25  again.  In fact, the statute did not allow for
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          2  secession of Staten Island because the Legislature

          3  had determined that secession could not take place

          4  without the Legislature itself saying so.

          5                 The bill you have drafted is exactly

          6  the same in that regard.  As we all know, under the

          7  Constitution of the United States New York City

          8  cannot, by itself, secede. It needs the approval of

          9  both the State Legislature and the United States

         10  Congress.  That's in Article Four, Section Three,

         11  Clause One of the United States Constitution.  Your

         12  bill, like the one that the Court of Appeals

         13  approved back in 1990 simply tests public opinions,

         14  sets up a commission and then tests public opinion

         15  again.

         16                 Now, there are significant

         17  differences.  I'm not guaranteeing by any means that

         18  this bill would just sail through the courts.  One

         19  can never predict what will happen in the courts and

         20  the differences are substantial.  The Staten Island

         21  bill was enacted by the State Legislature itself,

         22  signed into law by Governor Cuomo.  So it wasn't

         23  just a local law.  It authorized referenda under

         24  circumstances in which localities arguably do not

         25  have the right to conduct referenda under the
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          2  Municipal Home Rule Law.

          3                 The precise issue before the Court of

          4  Appeals was somewhat different.  We were arguing

          5  that there had to have been a home rule message and

          6  that was a fairly strong argument, we felt.  But

          7  what's most similar and for your purposes most

          8  important, is that the Court of Appeals chose to

          9  sidestep all of these legal issues by saying, "Well,

         10  there's no harm here because this bill doesn't

         11  actually bring about secession.  All it does it test

         12  public opinion, set up a commission, test public

         13  opinion again."  That's why I believe that it's at

         14  least possible that Intro. 386, if it were ever

         15  enacted into law, would survive a court test.

         16                 Let me turn more importantly, I

         17  think, to the politics of any secessionist movement

         18  because what happened in the Staten Island secession

         19  movement left a really deep impression on me and

         20  it's something that I think that people who were not

         21  involved at the time need to be reminded about.

         22  You may wish to consult some of your Staten Island

         23  colleagues who themselves did not hold office at the

         24  time but certainly would remember what was

         25  happening.
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          2                 Some are going to ask, isn't this

          3  bill just pie in the sky, a pipe dream, a diversion.

          4    This is never going to happen so why even bother?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  They aren't

          6  going to, they already have asked that.

          7                 MR. BERGER:  I disagree.  I'll tell

          8  you why. The political impact of the secessionist

          9  movement on Staten Island was extraordinary and it

         10  brought about extraordinary change for the people of

         11  Staten Island.  The fact that Staten Islanders were

         12  so upset as to demand secession caused some very

         13  serious re- evaluations of the issue by Staten

         14  Island's leaders.

         15                 The Staten Island secession movement

         16  had for a long, long time existed but it had been

         17  the pipe dream of one and only one politician, the

         18  revered John Markey and everyone else sort of

         19  shrugged it off as John Markey's dream.  But after

         20  Staten Island lost its vote on the Board of Estimate

         21  and in my opinion, most importantly, after the city

         22  elected a mayor who did not have a great deal of

         23  political support in the middle and southern parts

         24  of Staten Island, namely David Dinkins, all of a

         25  sudden this issue took off.  It was embraced by the
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          2  Staten Island Advance which as many of you know is

          3  just about the sole and most important media outlet

          4  on Staten Island.  As it built it was co- opted by

          5  the Island's most powerful politician, Borough

          6  President Guy Molinari.

          7                 As a result, the first referendum

          8  passed overwhelmingly, the commission was set up.  I

          9  hope that Professor Joe Vittirivi does come today or

         10  at some future occasion.  He was the staff director

         11  of that committee and he did a spectacular job, as

         12  did much of his staff.  Most of the staff was part

         13  time and that was probably a good thing because they

         14  were able to get some of the best and brightest

         15  people who might not have otherwise been able to

         16  leave their positions.  They did magnificent work

         17  and they had magnificent consultants and they made a

         18  very strong case.

         19                 As a result, the second referendum,

         20  which was on the ballot in November of 1993, passed

         21  overwhelmingly and also it drew out a huge turnout.

         22  In fact, many analysts believe that the huge turnout

         23  on Staten Island in November of 1993 made the

         24  difference in Mayor Dinkins losing re election to

         25  Rudolph Giuliani.  The end result of the secession
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          2  movement was the election of a mayor who was much

          3  more favorable to the issues that Staten Islanders

          4  cared about the most.

          5                 And what was the result of that?

          6  Well, just count up a few of the more important

          7  ones.  Closure of the Fresh Kills Landfill, at very

          8  great cost to the city.  We even agreed to state

          9  legislation that will essentially prevent us from

         10  ever reopening it.  Elimination of tolls on the

         11  ferry.  Construction of a new ferry terminal.

         12  Construction of a minor league ballpark.  I could go

         13  on and on and on.  All of that came out of the

         14  secession movement.

         15                 Just to pick one example, and I'm not

         16  meaning to get into an argument over environmental

         17  issues here, but shipping our solid waste out of

         18  state when we have a landfill with another 20 year

         19  life, is prohibitively expensive.  According to Miss

         20  Lowenstein's organization, which her agency -- which

         21  did a study on alternatives, they estimate

         22  approximately 200 million a year we lose as a result

         23  of shipping out of state instead of using the

         24  landfill.

         25                 One of my earliest cases at Corp.
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          2  Counsel was defending the city against a lawsuit by

          3  New Jersey that attempted to shut the landfill down

          4  and we spent millions and millions of dollars on

          5  infrastructure at that landfill on the assumption

          6  that we would need to keep it open for many more

          7  years.  Yet in the current crisis when the New York

          8  Times about a year ago ran an editorial advocating

          9  reopening of the landfill, the mayor, Mayor

         10  Bloomberg went out to Staten Island, gave a speech

         11  and said, "Forget about it, it's a non- starter, no

         12  way, no how."  Staten Island had achieved total

         13  victory on this issue.  Today it is extremely

         14  unlikely that the landfill will ever be reopened

         15  regardless of the expense and even temporarily just

         16  to help us out for a year or two.

         17                 So the lesson I think should be very

         18  obvious. If there's one sentence I say today, I

         19  would ask you to take it to heart.  People take you

         20  more seriously when you start talking seriously

         21  about secession.  That's what I learned from the

         22  process we had in the late '80s and early '90s on

         23  Staten Island.  It's a revolutionary act.  People on

         24  Staten Island talked about it as if it were a

         25  revolutionary act. They even shot off a colonial
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          2  cannon at one point.  They made a big thing of the

          3  fact that this is the same as what led to the

          4  American Revolution.  This was like 1776 all over

          5  again.  To a very limited extent they were right

          6  because secession is the ultimate expression of a

          7  people who believe they've had enough from a

          8  government that treats them unfairly.

          9                 Given the current state of affairs in

         10  New York City, I'm not so much of a budget expert as

         11  several of the other people you've heard from, but

         12  it's perfectly logical and reasonable that in the

         13  current crisis we should begin talking seriously

         14  about separating from a government that has shown us

         15  so little support and so little respect and which

         16  repeatedly requires us to go begging for help.

         17                 In fact, I'd go a step farther.  Even

         18  if your bill as presently drafted is never enacted,

         19  or even if it passes and is struck down in

         20  litigation, I see nothing that prevents this Council

         21  from setting up its own commission to study the

         22  question and I would urge you to do so because this

         23  is an issue that has to be debated and debated

         24  seriously.

         25                 If we were a state we would be
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          2  something like I think the eighth or ninth, maybe

          3  tenth largest -- most populous state in the United

          4  States.  The notion that 8 million people are denied

          5  the right to govern their own affairs, especially

          6  with respect to taxation, and have to go begging for

          7  approval from a larger and more, much more

          8  unsympathetic government on nearly every question, I

          9  mean that is appalling.

         10                 We've managed to live with this

         11  problem for many, many years but things have been

         12  different in the past. In the 1970s the state helped

         13  us out in a much more substantial way than it's

         14  likely to do today.  After all, back in the '70s, to

         15  some extent it was at least our own fault due to

         16  some very poor budgeting whereas today what's put us

         17  into this situation is mostly that we were attacked

         18  by people from abroad.

         19                 I needn't go into the details of some

         20  of the inequities because other speakers have said

         21  so and have done it better than I can, but the point

         22  that I do want to make is that the issues are so

         23  serious and so significant that this bill is by no

         24  means a diversion.  This is exactly what you should

         25  be doing.  It has worked in the past for Staten
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          2  Islanders.  It could work for you.  You shouldn't

          3  just say, "Oh, well, it's never going to happen so

          4  why bother."  I support your efforts.  I encourage

          5  you in your work. Thanks.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you very

          7  much. So we've had sort of a balancing points of

          8  view, coincidentally on each end of the table.  I

          9  suspect that we're going to now hear a third voice

         10  that's somewhat in the middle.

         11                 MR. BOWLES:  So to speak.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So to speak.

         13                 MR. BOWLES:  Maybe it's appropriate

         14  that I'm sitting in the middle.  Thanks for having

         15  me here.  My name's Jonathan Bowles and I'm the

         16  Research Director of the Center for an Urban Future.

         17    We're a non- profit policy institute.  We write

         18  about all sorts of policy issues that impact New

         19  York City's future, particularly economic

         20  development, workforce development and budgetary

         21  issues.

         22                 I'm grateful to have the opportunity

         23  to testify before this committee at a hearing that

         24  will hopefully help shine a light on how appalling

         25  little our state government leaders in Albany have
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          2  done for New York City, not just in response to the

          3  city's current fiscal crisis or in the months after

          4  9/11, but consistently going back for years.

          5  Hopefully this hearing will help exert pressure on

          6  the Governor and the Legislature whose actions over

          7  the past several years played a significant role in

          8  putting the city in a fiscal crisis.  Hopefully it

          9  will help make it crystal clear to politicians and

         10  citizens from across the state that it's in

         11  everyone's interest to have a healthy New York City.

         12                 I could go on and on about how Albany

         13  has put the screws to the city.  In April of last

         14  year I authored a report titled "Sympathy But No

         15  Support.  Even After 9/11 Albany Continues a Decade-

         16  Long Pattern of Shortchanging New York City" that

         17  detailed how a series of actions undertaken in

         18  Albany over the past decade deprived the city of

         19  nearly $2 billion in revenue.  The long list of

         20  actions includes everything from repeal of the

         21  city's commuter tax in 1999, the 2001 decision to

         22  end the $114 million a year stock transfer tax --

         23  stock transfer payment, not a tax -- that the state

         24  had been making to the city for more than 20 years,

         25  enacting several laws that forced the city to
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          2  significantly increase wages and benefits to certain

          3  municipal workers and shortchanging the city on a

          4  litany of programs including school aid, basic aid

          5  to local governments, the Environmental Bond Act and

          6  the national tobacco settlement.

          7                 I commend Councilman Vallone and this

          8  committee for putting Albany's treatment of New York

          9  City on the table today and I hope it stays there.

         10  That said, however, I have to admit that I am

         11  opposed to the idea of the city seceding from the

         12  rest of the state and I am opposed to the idea of

         13  creating a commission at this time to study such an

         14  option.

         15                 Aside from the fact that Congress

         16  will never approve of New York City becoming the

         17  51st state, I just don't think we have reached the

         18  point where the city needs to pursue such an extreme

         19  action.  Also, going down this road could have

         20  negative repercussions on the city including losing

         21  political support in Washington, widening an already

         22  troubling rift between upstate and downstate

         23  residents and taking us in the wrong direction at a

         24  time when the city is increasingly part of a

         25  regional economy and when the city should be
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          2  pursuing strategies to become more integrated with

          3  the rest of the region, not less.  After all, we've

          4  got enough problems with the State of New Jersey

          5  enacting tax incentives intended to swipe the city's

          6  corporations.  Do we really want to be in a

          7  situation where we won't have a say in what

          8  Westchester or Long Island does in trying to compete

          9  with the city for our businesses.

         10                 I do feel strongly, however, that the

         11  Council should pursue the issue of the city's unfair

         12  treatment in Albany.  Perhaps there should be an

         13  independent advocate for the city in Albany, someone

         14  who would provide information to city officials and

         15  the public about the impact of pending legislation

         16  on the city.  We need someone keeping track of what

         17  happens not just in time of fiscal crisis like now.

         18  We need someone up there that's telling us what the

         19  Legislature's planning to do or what legislation's

         20  pending, you know, all the time.  Or perhaps the

         21  Council should call for an annual report to be

         22  written that details how much the city sends to

         23  Albany every year and how much it gets back in

         24  return.  That kind of information needs to be out

         25  there and I appreciate what you're trying to do to
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          2  get that out with this hearing and with this bill.

          3  I think there are other ways other than studying

          4  secession where you can continually put this

          5  information out there.  I think that if you did that

          6  kind of thing it would be best if it were done by an

          7  independent organization as Councilman Vallone

          8  talked about before about the study that the Center

          9  for Governmental Research did in 1999.  That was a

         10  Rochester based organization that did it.  It had a

         11  lot of credibility that it was not just the City

         12  Council doing it or someone from the city.

         13                 Finally, I'd urge everyone on the

         14  Council to pressure your colleagues in the State

         15  Legislature to stop shortchanging the city.  After

         16  all, 65 of the 150 members of the Assembly and 26 of

         17  the 62 members of the State Senate represent

         18  districts in the five boroughs.  They should be held

         19  accountable for their actions.  Remember, 23

         20  legislators from the five boroughs voted for repeal

         21  of the city's commuter tax in 1999.  The list is on

         22  our website if anyone's curious, www.nycfuture.org

         23  Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Questions?

         25  Council Member Vallone?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Yes, I'd

          3  like to thank all of you.  I already spoke to Fred,

          4  but, Joe, you and I spoke on the phone and you spent

          5  a lot of time on this and we appreciate your help in

          6  crafting this and everything you said today.  I

          7  agree, I think we can survive the legal challenges

          8  and, even if we can't, this is the only option open

          9  to us.  The other way would be to have the state

         10  start the process and it won't happen.  So this is

         11  the one option we have and we're talking it.  Thank

         12  you for everything you said today.  I know we speak

         13  all the time, so I don't have to ask you anything

         14  now.

         15                 Mr. Bowles, you're not aware because

         16  we haven't spoken, but I believe I left you a

         17  message and you spoke to my office, but I've been

         18  relying heavily on information provided by you and

         19  your organization.  So I wanted to thank you for

         20  that.  I have your report, "Sympathy But No Support"

         21  right here.  You've been a leading voice in pointing

         22  out the inequities that exist.  I'd love to have you

         23  on our side but hopefully you're -- when you said

         24  here "at this time," maybe you will be down the

         25  road.  Who knows.
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          2                 In going through some of the reasons,

          3  though, that you said that you're not supporting us

          4  at this time you mentioned widening a rift between

          5  upstate and downstate residents.  Possible, but I

          6  believe that rift exists because upstate residents

          7  don't quite understand exactly what downstate

          8  residents do for them.  As I said, I've traveled the

          9  state, I've quoted from some of the upstate

         10  politicians and they, to a large extent, resent us

         11  and think we leech off them.

         12                 I think by calling attention to this

         13  the way you have and the way we have today, will

         14  bring them a lot closer to us upstate.  If it

         15  doesn't work, then we have -- if these inequities

         16  get fixed, then maybe we don't need to secede.  That

         17  will be one of the things the commission is looking

         18  at.  I mean, the inequities that exist are the main

         19  reasons why we're looking at this.  If they

         20  disappear, then we won't need to do it and everyone

         21  might be holding hands again.  But I think this is

         22  the way to dissolve the rift as opposed to not doing

         23  this.

         24                 The other thing you mentioned was

         25  Westchester and Nassau.  I have received a good deal
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          2  of calls from Nassau especially, and Westchester who

          3  want to come along with us.  Nassau, I did a one-

          4  hour call- in show on one of the biggest stations

          5  out there in Nassau and every call was in favor of

          6  this and how they can come with us.  So maybe that's

          7  the way to bring you on board down the road.

          8                 I don't have any questions because

          9  I've exhaustively studied your stuff and I really

         10  appreciate the help you've given us.  I will be

         11  working with you on this in the future.  Thank you.

         12                 MR. BOWLES:  Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  So you are at

         14  this point opposed to the introduction on the

         15  establishment of a commission to study the matter?

         16  Of course, it would aggravate the differences that

         17  already exist.  Is that what you said.

         18                 MR. BOWLES:  Well, to be honest, I

         19  mean I really haven't studied the issue of secession

         20  enough and why I said at this time -- I think it is

         21  to some extent a diversion and I think there are

         22  other things that could be done.  Honestly, you

         23  know, this effort, as Joel was saying, really does

         24  put the issue on the table.  If you look at last

         25  year's election, the statewide election, obviously
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          2  people weren't even writing about what was happening

          3  in Albany or the state/city relationship.  So there

          4  needs to be a lot more attention on what Albany

          5  means to New York City.  I mean, the fact that so

          6  few people in New York City actually votes in the

          7  statewide election last year I think to a large

          8  degree people down here are really clueless about

          9  how much New York State screws New York City.  I

         10  definitely appreciate what this effort is doing.

         11                 I think there's ways to keep this in

         12  the public light and to keep pressure on Albany.  I

         13  think there's ways to get upstate support of that.

         14  I mean, all of the boom on Wall Street in the 1990s

         15  really enabled the state government to cut taxes and

         16  provide increased municipal aid all around the

         17  state.  I mean, it was thanks to New York City that

         18  a lot of upstate cities that were struggling got

         19  extra support and got tax cuts at the time. That

         20  message isn't getting out.  Now that the city has no

         21  money those municipalities are going to struggle.

         22                 I think that there's just a much

         23  better way. I think it's going to be perceived as

         24  quite arrogant to the upstate people that already

         25  are distrustful of New York City, that we want to
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          2  secede.  I think that if there was some kind of an

          3  impartial, independent group maybe created by the

          4  Legislature at the Council's behest to study this --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  That's what

          6  we're doing, an impartial, independent group created

          7  by us to study this question.

          8                 MR. BOWLES:  Well, I'd much rather

          9  see something like this Rochester Center for

         10  Governmental Research, something that's coming not

         11  from the city but something that's coming from the

         12  state.  That every year why doesn't the Council

         13  support a resolution for an annual study on the

         14  balance of payment between the states?

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Great idea.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  There is a

         17  resolution towards that end that's being considered,

         18  to request that the state provide that type of

         19  analysis.  Again, that's helpful as well.  I think

         20  essentially what this is about is part of a multi-

         21  pronged effort to get the story out.

         22                 One of our colleagues today is on a

         23  150 mile march to Albany in support of the campaign

         24  for fiscal equity.  Another example of the imbalance

         25  in payments. Somebody might say, well, why take a
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          2  150 mile walk.  Well, that's a way of dramatizing it

          3  and I believe that there will be some attention paid

          4  to that effort.  I know there was quite a bit of

          5  attention this morning, at least from the media

          6  point of view.  There are quite a few people walking

          7  with him.

          8                 Today through this introduction is

          9  another

         10  way to get the story out.  Our speaker, to some

         11  extent, attempted to get the story out when he made

         12  his state of the city speech.  The Mayor's Office is

         13  attempting to get the story out as he makes his

         14  budget presentations, whether it be the preliminary

         15  budget or whether it be the executive budget or even

         16  sometimes in his efforts to get some support from

         17  Albany in these present negotiations he shares some

         18  of the frustrations.

         19                 So, you're right, if another effort

         20  could be made to do that as well, that would work as

         21  well.  But I think the combination of these efforts,

         22  and especially this one, helps bring you and others

         23  of your caliber in, that we very much appreciate,

         24  whether you agree with us or not.  But you all seem

         25  to chime the same song which is the song that we
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          2  want to hear about the inequities that the city's

          3  experiencing.

          4                 Some would say it's quixotic, some

          5  would say it is the way that has proven to be

          6  successful and others would say it's a diversion,

          7  but none would disagree about the need for some

          8  correction in the relationship and some structural

          9  addressing of how it is that the city winds up in

         10  the kinds of crises that we sometimes wind up in

         11  when it's not our fault.

         12                 Now, I know that to some extent there

         13  are those who might say we could do better also, but

         14  clearly there seems to be a unanimous understanding

         15  that the state is playing a role that's not helping

         16  the city as much as it could.  I hear that from the

         17  three of you as well as I believe from those who

         18  came before you, even if you don't agree on anything

         19  else.

         20                 Yes?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  If I Just

         22  might add. In the early period when Staten Island's

         23  secession was first being bandied about, there were

         24  many who said the same things that Mr. Bowles said,

         25  this is going to just make relations worse, this is
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          2  going to be, you know, this is just never going to

          3  happen so why should we upset people.  That type of

          4  conversation went on and it took a long time, for

          5  example, for Borough President Molinari to finally

          6  come on board.  There was again saying, gee, this

          7  will widen the gulf between us and the rest of --

          8  the other four boroughs even more, to which many

          9  said how could it be any worse than it is already.

         10  This same type of conversation went on back and

         11  forth and it is perfectly natural that it should.

         12                 The part that I wanted to make here

         13  today is that in the end when those who were more in

         14  favor of pushing secession as far as they could

         15  prevailed, they got an awful lot of things done as a

         16  result.  That was despite the fact that in the city

         17  at the time within the Dinkins' administration there

         18  was concern.  You know, we thought maybe we can do

         19  some things to mollify Staten Islanders but,

         20  frankly, there wasn't enough concern because there

         21  were counterbalancing interests.  There was a budget

         22  crisis in the early years of the Dinkins'

         23  administration and we were not about to lose $200

         24  million by closing the landfill -- a year by closing

         25  the landfill.  So it may just be impossible to close
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          2  the gap sufficiently between us and upstate in the

          3  current dialogue in any way other than by pressing

          4  this issue of secession.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Thank you.  Mr.

          6  Fred Siegel.

          7                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  I just want to

          8  comment on the Staten Island analogy.  I think it's

          9  really a faulty analogy.  Staten Island felt

         10  sandbagged.  Staten Island did not set in motion the

         11  change in the charter.  This is not the situation

         12  now in relation to the state.  As I tried to

         13  suggest, we are in considerable measure the author

         14  of our own problems.  As Jonathan pointed out, we

         15  have 65 members of the Legislature -- the Assembly.

         16  That's a considerable number -- considerable

         17  representation.  Nothing can get done in the

         18  Assembly without our support.  So the analogy is a

         19  fundamentally faulty one.

         20                 All you have to do is go back at the

         21  time and look at the fight over the charter and

         22  understand how charged that was.  This was seen as a

         23  fundamental constitutional issue.  A system like

         24  that in the United States Senate was eliminated.

         25  There were people like Freddie Ferrer and myself who
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          2  came before you here in the Council and argued

          3  before the Editorial Boards that this was a bad

          4  idea, that the way to solve this problem was to give

          5  the Borough Presidents more power, to decentralize.

          6                 In no sense did Staten Island

          7  initiate this process which it saw itself as the

          8  victim.  That is very, very different from the

          9  situation we're in now.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I hear what

         11  you're saying.  Again, I think that Albany politics

         12  is what we're talking about.  Even if we're talking

         13  about significant numbers of those members coming

         14  from New York City.  Albany politics seems to work

         15  against the needs of the people of the City of New

         16  York in too many instances.  That's a form of

         17  politics apparently that is, if I may, occasionally,

         18  to say the least, indifferent to New York City's

         19  needs irregardless or irrespective of where the

         20  members come from.

         21                 Now, I think that's the theme that

         22  this introduction embodies and which we've tried to

         23  elucidate through this hearing.  I think it's very,

         24  very important, Dr. Siegel, that you bring this out

         25  in the way that you do even if it's in counter to
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          2  what the Staten Island --

          3                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  I don't make house

          4  calls.

          5  Just professor's fine.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Okay.  You

          7  demote yourself.  I'm about empowering.

          8                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  My salary's

          9  already --

         10                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  Let me just add

         11  something to what you're saying.  It seems to me

         12  another way to phrase this would be to argue that

         13  Albany politics works to the detriment of the entire

         14  state.  I wouldn't phrase it in such narrow terms.

         15  The interesting thing about the western tier is --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  See that's why

         17  Albany politics works that way because it's not --

         18  if we're trying to narrow out -- we're looking at

         19  very narrow interests 'cause we just represent the

         20  city and if we become too universal, then we might

         21  wind up perpetuating that which we are trying to

         22  correct.

         23                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  But nobody would

         24  describe politics in Albany as universal.  Its

         25  provincialism is small.  The key thing in Albany is
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          2  if you live in the western tier and you look across

          3  the Erie Basin, it's -- western New York is the only

          4  part of the Rust -- the old Rust Belt, the only part

          5  that never recovered from the economic collapse of

          6  the 1970s.  Why?  Why is western New York State

          7  different from Ohio and Indiana or Pennsylvania? And

          8  the answer people will tell you if you spend time up

          9  there, and they're not happy campers.  That's why I

         10  think -- it's Albany, what's done in Albany.  That's

         11  why I would just suggest to you that in pursuing

         12  this, and I think you should pursue it, you talk

         13  about this in terms of Albany in regard to the

         14  entire State of New York and not just New York City.

         15  It would avoid some of the problems that Jonathan

         16  referred to.  It wouldn't -- it would make us seem

         17  less parochial and it would frame the issue in a way

         18  that everyone in the state can understand.  Again,

         19  if you go to the western tier, they don't think

         20  they're doing well and they're right.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  I hear what

         22  you're saying, and I guess I have to agree with you

         23  reluctantly because, you're right, because if we --

         24  we don't want to get into sibling rivalry where New

         25  York feels we are the most victimized and, as you
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          2  point out, there are folks upstate New York who

          3  really feel that the system is not working for them

          4  at all as well.  But I think at the same time we do

          5  have to recognize that it's not that -- that there's

          6  something going on in Albany in the State

          7  Legislature that is responsible for this and we,

          8  from the perspective of New Yorkers, have no choice

          9  but to focus on our thing right now. We can't

         10  attract you by saying something's wrong with Albany.

         11    We can only attract you by saying something's

         12  wrong with New York City and we can only have -- we

         13  can only bring the conversation to you in terms of

         14  New York City.  We can't bring the conversation to

         15  you in terms of the rest of the state because

         16  frankly our constituents don't want to hear about at

         17  this point in time why we can't keep senior citizen

         18  centers open in Buffalo.  I'm sorry, go ahead.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Again, some

         20  very good points, but regarding western New York,

         21  you know better than I do whether they receive their

         22  fair share from Albany. I don't know.  I assume they

         23  do because our money's going someplace.

         24                 But the other factor here that makes

         25  this not of our own making, and I agree we've made
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          2  some huge mistakes, our legislators, is 9/11.  And

          3  that is I think the overriding factor here.  We need

          4  to survive that.  We can't because of Albany's

          5  actions.  That New York City did not bring on

          6  itself. That being said, there are some differences

          7  from the Staten Island analogy but I think there are

          8  many, many similarities.

          9                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  Councilman

         10  Vallone, I agree with you about 9/11, but the issues

         11  is not just government spending.  Too often this

         12  debate takes place solely in governmental terms, who

         13  gets more, who gets less. The issue for most people

         14  upstate is that their economy has never recovered

         15  from the crash of 25 years ago.  In other words, the

         16  key issue in all matters of taxation can't just be

         17  does the government get adequate revenues.  It's the

         18  effect of government revenues on the operation of

         19  the private sector economy.  That's how people in

         20  New York look at in upstate New York, particularly

         21  the western tier look at it.  And to some extent,

         22  that's how the people of the outer boroughs of New

         23  York look at it.  What effect do the government

         24  actions have on the private sector economy.

         25                 To that extent it seems to me that
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          2  the distinction that Councilman Perkins was making

          3  may not be so valid.  That is, to the extent that

          4  New York falls behind the rest of the country, that

          5  our rate of job creation is well behind the rest of

          6  the country.  Is there a connection between this and

          7  our governmental policies?  If you want to bring

          8  upstate New York into this discussion, we need to

          9  phrase it in a way that says Albany's policies have

         10  hurt the entire state from stem to stern  Here's our

         11  particular problem but we recognize no one is doing

         12  well out of this set of arrangements.  Yes, it's

         13  true Buffalo may be a net winner in Albany's

         14  revenues but it's a loser overall because the

         15  economy is dead.  And because the money that comes

         16  in is money to subsidize things that maybe ought not

         17  be subsidized, meanwhile transportation projects in

         18  wester New York State are languishing.  That's

         19  Buffalo's future as a transportation center.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  I agree

         21  completely. And if Albany changes the way you say it

         22  should, and I agree with you, then possibly upstate

         23  will do better.  I know we'll do better and then

         24  this whole discussion would be moot.  It would be

         25  another way of getting it done.  I don't see that
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          2  happening, but it is another way of getting to the

          3  same end.

          4                 PROFESSOR SIEGEL:  Council Member

          5  Vallone, you made one point that I think -- you said

          6  it quickly but it really needs more emphasis.  You

          7  can say that western New York hasn't recovered from

          8  economic woes of 25 years.  It's going to take us a

          9  long time to recover from 9/11.  9/11 is unique not

         10  only in our history, not only in the state's history

         11  but in the entire history of the United States of

         12  America.  We suffered something that no city has

         13  ever suffered in the entire history of this country

         14  and that is unique.  It calls for unique assistance

         15  and if we can't get it, it may call for unique

         16  action.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Very

         18  eloquently put.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  Well, on that

         20  eloquent, passionate word, I think we have come to

         21  the conclusion of our hearing.  I want to thank you

         22  for your testimony and for your patience and

         23  perseverance.  Sometimes, and this is a classic

         24  example, the best is for last.  I wish that others

         25  had the privilege of this type of dialogue that we
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          2  just engaged in because I think it really helped

          3  crystalize the issues that we are dealing with.

          4  Clearly this was a day in which we found a great

          5  deal of consensus around New York City's fiscal

          6  problems and its relationship to the state and

          7  clearly everybody does not have the same solution.

          8  This bill, however, I believe has offered us an

          9  opportunity to bring people together to discuss it

         10  intelligently and thoroughly and to inspire us to

         11  look even further as to how we can fix the problems

         12  that bring us to write such a bill to begin with.

         13  Councilman Vallone?

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE:  Let me just

         15  again thank you, Bill, and the panel here because I

         16  hope this hearing sets the standard for intellectual

         17  discussion for future hearings.  I don't think it'll

         18  be met down the road, but this was a lot of fun to

         19  participate in.  Thank you all very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS:  This meeting is

         21  adjourned.

         22                 (Hearing concluded at 3:20 p.m.)
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          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, PAT IARKOWSKI, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 1st day of May 2003.
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          9            I, PAT IARKOWSKI, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.
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